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Friday, July 13, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

Preliminary Matters


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Day 3 of our hearing.  The Board has two preliminary matters before we turn it to Mr. Smith.  I understand you have some preliminary matters, as well.


The first is just to put on the transcripts the fact that we are not sitting on July 23rd.  I think parties know that through e-mails, but just so that it is on the transcript.  We will not be sitting on the 23rd.


Secondly, there was a question yesterday as to whether or not Board Staff's submissions would be in advance of intervenors.  Board Staff has indicated they will put in written submissions on August 9th, giving parties the opportunity to review those in advance of the oral submissions, and the Panel will start, then, with Board Staff on Monday morning with any questions, if we do have any, on their submission.


Mr. Smith, I understand you have some preliminary matters?


MR. SMITH:  I do, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.


A couple of things.  First, very minor, I believe in the examination-in-chief yesterday I may have referred to the gas supply evidence at D1, tab 14.  That was a reference to their CVs.  The evidence is obviously at D1, tab 1.


The second relates to scheduling.  We had indicated to our friends yesterday that we would reflect on the request with respect to our third panel, and we had indicated that our preference was to call the panel after submissions, if possible.


We have subsequently been advised that a number of people may not be in a position to cross-examine and have asked us to reconsider that request.


We have done that, and we are prepared to push that panel off and we will start Monday morning with cost of capital, and then we will go from there into the ex-franchise revenue panel hopefully Tuesday morning.  And we'll prepare a revised schedule for you, which I will distribute either later today or Monday morning, if that is acceptable to the Board.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  The third brief item, I have had a discussion with my friend, Mr. Quinn, and I think it makes some sense to raise this now.


In a brief compendium for cross-examination in respect of this panel, my friend has attached an interrogatory from the 2012-0087 proceeding, which is Union's deferral account proceeding which is presently before the Board.  It's a separate proceeding.  It has not been heard or decided by the Board.


Two observations.  The first is, in discussions with my friend, it is apparent that what the questioner had in mind and what the responder had in mind were not ad idem in terms of the language.  And so I have told my friend that we're going to be updating that interrogatory to make sure that it's responsive, and we're going to do that as soon as we can, hopefully today.


My friend can certainly, subject to what I'm about to say, put that document and explain -- and ask as to the source of the confusion.  I don't have an objection to that.


I do have a broader concern, and I'll obviously wait for cross-examination if this becomes a significant issue, but there are a number of documents from the 0087 case that are reflected in Mr. Thompson's compendium and in Mr. Quinn's, and I do have a concern about the collateral gathering of evidence for use in a different proceeding.  In my respectful submission, we are focussed here on the 2013 case and that needs to be borne in mind.


Obviously I'll wait for the questions and, if an objection needs to be made, I will make it, but I did want that reflected, because when we give this an exhibit number, we have to bear that in mind.


Thank you.  We've also received a note from Mr. Thompson he is running a bit late and he will be here at ten to 10:00.  I think Mr. Quinn is going first after my examination, so it may not cause a problem.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. QUINN:  If I may -- sorry.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  One of the wrinkles in this last point that you made, Mr. Smith, is one of the Panel members here is sitting on that deferral account case.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And so that, I think, creates a bit of a separate sensitivity, respecting the making of submissions or characterizations of the evidence where that may not be in the presence of all of the parties or -- there may be some concerns about that.  So I just raise that.


MR. SMITH:  I do have a very serious concern about this issue, and that's why I raise it as a preliminary matter.  I thought it prudent to raise it rather than simply make the point at the time of the question.  That will be a contested proceeding, undoubtedly.


MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Quinn, did you want to respond to that.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, please, if I may, I guess in reverse chronological order.  I have tried to structure my cross-examination to be sensitive to the different proceedings, this being about 2013, the subsequent proceeding about 2011, earnings sharing mechanism.  So I will try to be sensitive to that.


I would like to get that clarification, and I will approach it in my cross-examination.  I will not go into the detail, because we won't have the detail, and I understand it may not be available until later today.


So if it is not effective for me to be able to come back to this panel to get the clarifications we might have been seeking originally, potentially that could be asked of panel 3, which would have the people who may be able to help us with those aspects of the inquiry.


And if something is beyond their realm of knowledge and it was more pertinent to panel 2, if my friend would accept an undertaking to answer that question, then I think that is possibly the best way of handling the situation.  Then I will just not go through with the list of questions I had about that.


MS. HARE:  I appreciate what you're saying, but I think the point is, whether it is to this panel or panel 3, that these are issues in another case that have not been deliberated, and the fact we do have one Panel member sitting on both may cause concern, but let's see how it goes.


MR. QUINN:  I will try to be sensitive to that.


On the preliminary matter relative to schedule, I had a discussion Mr. Smith yesterday.  Mr. Rosenkranz was originally scheduled to try to be here, on the outline of the schedule Union had proposed, on July 19th.  He has a client conflict that has taken precedence over that.


So, in our view, Mr. Rosenkranz was originally scheduled to be at the end of the proceeding, and most of his evidence is relative to cost allocation, and, therefore, it would probably be appropriate for his appearance to be toward the end after the Union Gas cost allocation panel.


MS. HARE:  Cost allocation panel?


MR. QUINN:  Just to highlight that when the schedule is revised, Mr. Rosenkranz will be toward the end, and part of it was his conflict.


MR. SMITH:  I have indicated to Mr. Quinn I don't have any objection to that.  I expect Mr. Rosenkranz will be very brief, and we are happy to have him at the end.  That's fine.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I did have some examination-in-chief that I'd like to proceed with.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2, RESUMED


Mary Evers, Previously Sworn


Tina Hodgson, Previously Sworn


Drew Quigley, Previously Sworn


Chris Shorts, Previously Sworn

Continued Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Panel, having been previously sworn, I believe, Mr. Shorts, this question is for you.


I would like to ask you about the gas supply planning process, if I may, and the principles, if any, that Union is guided by in its gas supply planning.


MR. SHORTS:  Gas supply is guided by a number of key principles.  These principles ensure that Union's customers receive a secure and reliable gas supply at a prudently and reasonably incurred cost.


These long-standing principles are filed in our current evidence.  They are also included in a number of past proceedings, and the OEB has actually endorsed these in some of those past proceedings.  The --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Go ahead, Mr. Shorts.


MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  These principles include, number 1, ensuring a secure and reliable gas supply in Union's -- at Union's service territory; minimizing risk through the diversification of upstream pipelines, supply basins and term; also, to meet our planned design day and seasonal gas requirements; to deliver gas to various locations on the Union system to maintain system reliability and integrity; and, as well, to encourage new sources of supply -- source of supply and infrastructure to Union's service territory.


These guiding principles have been applied year over year and are certainly independent of current market conditions.  We have been following these principles in the past and will continue to follow these principles going forward.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Quigley, just mechanically maybe you could talk to us a little bit about the planning process and how that is undertaken.


MR. QUIGLEY:  The gas supply planning process models all of the demands, the contracted upstream transportation capacity and the storage assets that are available for bundled customers through a gas supply planning software known as SENDOUT.  Union has used SENDOUT for a number of years, and it's been presented in a number of the previous rate applications.

And the outcome of that process is an annually reviewable five-year plan, which provides a forecast of the supplies, the services and the costs required to serve the in-franchise sales service and bundled customers.

MR. SMITH:  And there is discussion in the evidence -- and I'm sure we will hear it in cross-examination -- about something called unabsorbed demand charges.  What are those?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  Unabsorbed demand charge is the demand charge cost for upstream transportation that is not out-leaded or left empty or doesn't flow on a 100 percent flow to meet customer's annual firm demands.

MR. SMITH:  Is that a feature of your gas supply plan?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I won't characterize UDC as a feature of the plan, but more as an outcome of the plan of managing the demands and the supplies and the upstream transportation capacity.

MR. SMITH:  What do you mean by that, sir?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I mean we attempt to minimize the UDC in the plan, but it's not entirely possible to eliminate it, especially serving the north, as we're required to contract for upstream transportation capacity to meet our northern - to serve our northern delivery area demands.  And we hold upstream transportation capacity in X to meet our firm design day demands in those delivery areas, which are in excess of our annual average day obligations.  And in Union's south territory, we have no planned UDC in 2013.

MR. SMITH:  Can you give me an example of when UDC might occur?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yeah.  The UDC that is generated in the plan for the north differs by delivery area and month.

So two examples.

One in the Manitoba delivery area, so if you think of Fort Frances, we –- UDC's incurred in each month of the plan, and this is due for the requirement for that delivery area.  We need to hold sufficient firm upstream transportation capacity to meet the design day demands, which are -- as I mentioned, are in excess of our average day demands.  And there are no firm services available to move gas, other firm services available to move gas in and out of that delivery area, so it is reliant on that upstream capacity to serve its design day demands.

In our eastern delivery area, if you think of Cornwall, Belleville, the transportation capacity into that delivery flows at 100 percent load factor in 11 of the 12 months, and UDC is only incurred in the month of March and that's in order for the plan to balance the demands and supplies with our March 31 ending inventory target.

So on average, other than the Manitoba delivery area, Union flows at close to 100 percent load factor on all of its northern upstream transportation between the months of November and February.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  When you do incur UDC, how do you respond to that?

MS. EVERS:  Mr. Quigley has indicated we -- as Mr. Quigley has indicated, we have planned UDC in the north.  And on an actual basis gas supply, we have used our supply position each month.

To the extent that we expect to have excess supply, we will take action to reduce our planned purchases, and in that case we will have empty pipe that will be un-utilized as a result of managing that excess supply.

The level of excess supply may be consistent with the planned UDC, but it's more likely that it will vary based on actual activity.

So if, for example, weather is a variable that can impact UDC or excess supply, to the extent that weather is warmer than normal we will have higher or greater excess supply.  To the extent that weather is colder than normal we will have less planned excess supply.

MR. SMITH:  And what happens when you release the pipe?

MS. EVERS:  When pipe is un-utilized by the utility for gas supply, gas supply team instructs S&T to release that pipe to the market.

If the un-utilized pipe is TCPL, any associated RAM feature that is associated with that pipe is also released to the market at the same time the pipe is released.

Releasing pipe to the market to obtain value to offset UDC cost is Union's preferred option.  However, there are instances where the term of un-utilized pipe may be less than a month, in which case we would leave the pipe empty and pay the UDC costs that are associated with that pipe.

MR. SMITH:  Ms. Hodgson, I think this might be for you, but a question:  Why is it that Union buys, in particular, firm transportation?

MS. HODGSON:  Mr. Shorts spoke to our guiding principles a little bit earlier, and the key principle in guiding our firm transportation purchases on TCPL in Union's north is security and reliability at a prudently incurred cost.

So Union Gas has an obligation to serve long-term firm transportation, firm service with long-term firm assets.

In the north, TCPL's firm transportation is also a prerequisite to purchasing the storage and transportation, or STS, service and it carries with it the rights to renew.  So contractually we are able to renew the firm transportation if we require it, and it also gives us the right to divert gas.

Supply is then planned to be delivered on this capacity, on a firm, even daily basis, and storage is then used to manage the differences between what is delivered and what is consumed on any given day.

Services other than firm transportation may introduce volume risk, price risk, and even credit risk.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you may have captured this -- and I apologize -- but there obviously is discussion in the media and elsewhere about TCPL's utilization or utilization on the TCPL system, which leads me to ask why you don't buy IT services from TCPL to serve Union's north.

MS. HODGSON:  Interruptible transportation is not a reliable transportation, in that it is subject to curtailment.  So although it doesn't happen often, there have been times when Union Gas has had both interruptible transport and firm transportation scheduled, nominated and scheduled on our system, and the interruptible transportation has been curtailed when the firm transportation has not.

MR. SMITH:  What about what is called STFT?  I understand that is short-term firm transportation.

MS. HODGSON:  It is firm.  Short-term firm transportation is firm service, and although it is available, it is not guaranteed to be available.

So the way the process works at a very high level on TCPL is they'll come out throughout the year for firm transportation that is available, first yearly and then shorter terms as the year progresses.

Not all paths are offered on short-term firm transportation open seasons.  So for example, there currently is one open out in the market right now, and not all long-haul delivery areas are available.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  What about third-party market services?  Are there any of those available?

MS. HODGSON:  They can be.  It is very much they are -you can purchase it between any two points.  However, we wouldn't know how that service is underpinned.  We wouldn't know -- there would -- typically not carry renewal rights, or if there were, they would be typically at a very high premium.  And there would be no STS rates, diversion rates that would accompany that service.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions in examination-in-chief.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Before we proceed to Mr. Quinn's questions, then, I would like to ask you how you intend to answer the questions posed by Mr. Wolnik.

MR. SMITH:  We will make panel 3 answer the question at the outset.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Okay.  Mr. Quinn?

And I would like to start by reminding all those cross-examining to try to stay focussed, stay strategic and please stay within the time estimate that's been provided.

MR. QUINN:  I will.

MS. HARE:  You will try?

MR. QUINN:  I will try that.

[Laughter]


MR. QUINN:  And I would advise Mr. Smith when I came up with my estimate, I didn't know where I would be in the queue, because I am at the first and I am trying to define some of the terms that Union has already been helpful in defining.

I have actually been asked by Board Staff to not go through it using a bunch of acronyms that might not be well explained, so I will balance that with the cautions you have given me and do my best, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn

MR. QUINN:  So as I mentioned, the panel has started on some of the areas that I intended to cover, and I think I will just try to get clarity so that we can separate some issues.

Good morning, panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn and I represent the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, and we are going to try to walk through the gas supply planning process as it pertains to the 2013 test year.

So the panel was able to give some high-level ideas of principles and practices that you employ in describing how you go about making sure that the gas arrives securely to your franchise area.

I would like to just make sure we have two concepts clear.  The first concept is peak day design versus seasonal planning.  And in your opening remarks, you did touch on both, but I just want to make sure we have a definition that is clear to everybody.

So would you agree with me that gas supply planning is focussed on ensuring there is sufficient gas transported to the franchise to supplement gas pulled from storage to meet volume requirements on the highest load demand under design day conditions, and you would define this as your peak day design planning?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And to separate that, once you have a peak day design and -- well, maybe just for further clarification, my understanding is that you would ensure that your peak day design could happen as late in the year as March 1st?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so that defines the peak resources you'll need to meet the coldest day of the winter from an integrated storage and transportation planning perspective?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I want to separate that from the seasonal planning, and the seasonal planning relates more to making sure there is enough gas in your franchise, predominantly in storage, to ensure that the amount of deliverability from storage is met.

So would you agree with me that seasonal planning is about ensuring there's adequate monthly supply to meet storage targets that support late season delivery for either a March 1st peak day or, as you alluded to earlier, a March 31st target?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I would say that the seasonal plan is to ensure there's enough supply delivered to meet monthly seasonal demands.

The gas plan is -- we're trying to manage the demands within the south and north -- the south delivery area and the north delivery area to ensure we have enough supply landing to meet our seasonal demand requirements.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So said another way, is it correct to say that for the March 1st peak design day, the amount of deliverability from storage is set, and then you have to determine the amount of transportation needed to ensure that that amount of gas is available for that March 1st peak day?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I would suggest it's the other way around.  We plan our seasonal plan, and then that determines how much gas for in-franchise customers will be in the ground on February 28th, March 1st.

Then that -- then we look to see:  Is that sufficient to meet design day in the south?

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I think this is an important point of clarification, so I will ask it a different way.  On March 1st, you're assuming a certain level of deliverability from storage to be able to meet the design day conditions; is that correct?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  And so when you come up with your design day plan, you know the amount of deliverability needed, and, therefore, you know the minimum amount that you need to have in storage, and you hold yourselves and other direct purchase customers to targets that are based on a March 1st design?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, the gas plan itself is not a design day plan.  It's a monthly -- it's an average day plan.  Then the storage -- another group looks at what the design deliverability requirements out of storage are, and they base that -- they look to our plan to how much gas would be in the ground for in-franchise customers on February 28th, March 1st.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Said very simply, that design group gives you a target to have in storage -- and I am going to deal just with the system gas and bundled services.  They have given you a target to hit as of February 28th that provides to you your benchmark that you're meeting -- trying to meet in terms of the transportation planning?

MR. QUIGLEY:  We tell them how much gas we are planning to have in the ground, and then they tell us whether that is sufficient in order to meet design day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the way I am understanding, it is an iterative process potentially?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  But the idea is you must -- they are expecting you would have a certain amount of gas in storage to meet deliverability requirements, and it is your responsibility, through an iterative process, if necessary, to meet that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  And so with that clarity, you touched on SENDOUT as being a five-year plan.  Would it be fair to say, then, that SENDOUT is not really used for that last iterative portion of ensuring the amount of gas is available in storage?

MR. QUIGLEY:  SENDOUT is not used to determine the deliverability requirement from storage.  It's used to determine the amount of inventory that in-franchise customers will have in the ground on March 1st.

MR. QUINN:  And so in this iterative process, do you rerun SENDOUT, or do you intuitively say, We need 100 units and we're looking at only 90 units being available to us; therefore, we need to buy more supply?  Would that be more like what actually occurs from a practice point of view?

MR. QUIGLEY:  From a practical point of view, we would define how much inventory is in the ground.  If it's not sufficient, we would go -- we would look to provide -- look to re-plan to have sufficient inventory in the ground on March --


MR. QUINN:  What tools would you use to determine how you best access that incremental supply?

MR. QUIGLEY:  That would -- we would look at how much supply we need to land, and then determine the best way to serve that.

MR. QUINN:  And just for clarity, how would you go about doing that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  There's a number of different methods.  We could look at -- we would look at, first, is there a firm service that we would need to acquire in order to provide that inventory.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe it would help -- what time of year would this process be occurring?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Late spring, early summer.

MR. QUINN:  So at that point, you have a range of potential services, and I am hearing from you your preference is to seek firm service delivery to meet what might be a February obligation?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, one of the areas that has escaped my understanding, and maybe you can help us understand this a bit better, we talked about the north and you talked about some of the challenges relative to the Manitoba area.

I want to deal with the north, in general, but I think it would be helpful to focus on the eastern end of your north system, which is where you would have your greatest need to get gas, from a pressure point of view.

I understand you have UDC, which you reflected earlier, and I thank you for defining it.  When you are expecting UDC in the eastern area, you have now -- in your responses it wasn't separated out.  You have 10.4 pJs of planned UDC.

Would you know, offhand, approximately how much of that is in the east versus how much is in the Manitoba area?

MR. QUIGLEY:  In the east there would be 1.2 pJs in the eastern delivery area.

MR. QUINN:  I wanted -- that is helpful.  Thank you.  If it is 1.2 pJs in the east, it will give us a frame of reference which may be helpful later on.

So if your plan suggests there is 1.2 pJs, is there a specific contract that is attached to that 1.2 pJs?  In other words, there's a contract that you know will be empty for part of the year, but it's an annualized contract that is going to be not filled on a planned basis for that 1.2 pJs?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  That would be the Empress to eastern delivery area contract on TCPL, and it would not be filled in the month of March.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, your eastern delivery area is quite broad.  I guess -- I'm sorry, I was thinking of eastern delivery zone.  So you say eastern delivery area.

You have multiple contracts to the eastern delivery area, though, do you not?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  From those multiple contracts, is one of those contracts labelled as:  This is the contract that would go unfilled on a planned basis for March deliveries?

MR. QUIGLEY:  We would not model the specific contract.  We would lump the contracts together as being available to serve the eastern delivery area, and the UDC would just be calculated in total.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So we started touching on it before about the alternatives that would be considered.  I am going to deal first with UDC, because we're on that.

So on a planned basis, you say in the eastern delivery area you've got 1.2 pJs that would not be filled in the month of March.  You also indicated that you would use firm service.  Your choices would be looking at firm service to meet needs.

Have you considered or does your model allow you to consider, as opposed to using a firm annual contract, the opportunity to use a monthly contract for the months of the winter that it is expected to be needed?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, as we've outlined by Mr. Shorts in the gas supply planning principles, we look to use long-term firm assets to serve our long-term end user obligations in the delivery area.

The issue would be, to eliminate that UDC, we would have to turn back 365-day capacity on that pipe, which is flowing at 100 percent load factor in 11 of the 12 months of the year, which means that we would need to replace that capacity 11 of the 12 months of the year with a short-term service that is not guaranteed to be renewable, in any one year, to serve average annual demands in the delivery area.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I summarize that, because it is a firm service need, your belief is that long-term contracts are the best way to serve that economically?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.  Because UDC is all occurring in one month, but the only way to eliminate that UDC is to turn back 365-day firm pipe, which now means we don't have enough firm capacity to serve our average annual demands in the delivery area.

So then we would have to go out in the marketplace and try and find services for 11 of those 12 months.

MR. QUINN:  Now, we just touched on -- and I think it was Ms. Evers that talked about -- one of the panel members was talking about short-term firm.

So you are aware that you can buy short-term firm service for the entire winter, November to March?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. QUINN:  And you could buy that for each individual month of the winter season?

MS. HODGSON:  If it's available.  If it's been offered in the open season that TCPL issues, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Right now TCPL has an open season that is open; are you aware of that?

MS. HODGSON:  I am aware of that.

MR. QUINN:  And is there any delivery area that you have that is not available for winter delivery?

MS. HODGSON:  The SSM DA is unavailable from Empress, the long-haul.

MR. QUINN:  So the Sault Ste. Marie, to be clear?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  The eastern delivery area, though, is available?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe so, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I want to focus in -- because your area is broad and it is challenging enough, some of the content, I am going to try to focus on the eastern delivery area, and hopefully that's helpful.

So right now they have an open season that allows for the entire month –- sorry, the entire winter to be bid on; is that accurate?

MS. HODGSON:  That's accurate.

MR. QUINN:  And at the end of that process, then, they determine if they still have capacity available, and then you can buy on a monthly basis; is that accurate?

MS. HODGSON:  That's typically how it works.

MR. QUINN:  So for 2012, the winter that starts November 2012 moves into the 2013, which is a gas supply year that you are planning for, which is part of this application; is that accurate?

MS. HODGSON:  Sorry, that was a long one.  Can you say that again?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just to focus on the 2013 application as we have it, decisions about this winter starting November 1st, 2012 have impact on your 2013 rate application?

MS. HODGSON:  For the first three months of it, yes.

MR. QUINN:  For the first three months?

So for the eastern delivery area, we now have the entire winter and there would be still a period in -- later on in July where you may be able to get monthly firm service?

MS. HODGSON:  It's possible.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we can probably address that later on with -- maybe it is best I turn to it now, given where we're at.

I had provided a reference document that went in on Monday night, and I provided to Board Staff copies, and I think they may have reached the Board Panel.  If not, there is a coloured document that I want to refer to, but we probably should give it an exhibit number.

MS. HELT:  We can mark as Exhibit K3.1 the document entitled: "TransCanada Pipelines Limited, Proceeding RH-003-2011, response to APPrO 14."
EXHIBIT K3.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "TRANSCANADA PIPELINES LIMITED, PROCEEDING RH-003-2011, RESPONSE TO APPRO 14."

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, if I might just raise a brief evidentiary issue.  I don't want to put too much on this, but this is an interrogatory by TCPL in another proceeding.

And if my friend intends to use it -- as I believe he does -- to ask questions, and if an answer is given, that's fine.  But you can't simply incorporate hearsay from another proceeding by giving it an exhibit number.  It needs to be actually discussed with the witness.

And there are a number of documents like this in people's compendia; for example, cross-examination from other proceedings by witnesses who aren't Union witnesses.

So I do raise this as an evidentiary matter that we need to be cognizant of when marking documents.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  The other document is entitled: "Union Gas Limited answer to interrogatory from Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario," filed in EB- 2012-0087.  That will be Exhibit K3.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "UNION GAS LIMITED ANSWER TO INTERROGATORY FROM FEDERATION OF RENTAL-HOUSING PROVIDERS OF ONTARIO," FILED IN EB- 2012-0087.

MS. HARE:  We don't have those documents.

MS. HELT:  We will be providing them to you.

[Board Staff distributes documents]


MR. QUINN:  I understand the Union witnesses have already received a copy of this document.  The one I'm referring to first is the K3.1, the TCPL interrogatory.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we're absolutely clear on the record as to what this document is, this K3.1, this is a response by TransCanada Pipelines Limited in a National Energy Board proceeding to an inquiry of an interrogatory from APPrO?

MR. QUINN:  That's accurate, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Hearing Mr. Smith's caution, I believe that I will manage that area, because the graph is illustrative but informing, and it is historical -- historically accurate and hopefully will depict the picture.

But I want to turn to the witness panel to ask -- and I'm not sure who is best to answer this question, but in viewing this document, what I want to refer to predominantly is the chart.

In our view, the chart provides a concise visual representation of how gas is contracted for and how it flows for the northern line of TCPL over a two-year period starting November 2009.

Stopping there, would you agree that that is what we're looking at here?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, that's what we see.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I think for everybody's benefit -- and I could attempt to do this, but if I could ask Mr. Quigley, if you could describe the separation that is done here in terms of the green lines, and then what the red lines mean to you.

MR. QUIGLEY:  The dark green line, it is my understanding, is the firm transport requirement on the northern Ontario line.  So that would be, to my understanding, the amount of firm transport long-haul that's been contracted for.

The red line -- the solid red line, I believe, has been described as the firm capacity on the northern Ontario line.

The dotted red line would be the capacity -- it's capacity, all units available.  I'm assuming they're talking about compressor units.

And the bright green line is the contract -- would be the contract capacity for firm transport and -- short-term firm transport.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Just to make sure we are crystal-clear in that area, I read the dark green line as the baseline of annual firm transport contracts; is that consistent with your explanation?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I didn't prepare the graph, so...

MR. SMITH:  This is the problem.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  This is a TCPL document.  My friend putting propositions is fine, but they don't become evidence unless they're adopted by the witness.


MS. HARE:  Understood.


MR. QUINN:  I think that is why I was asking if I had a similar interpretation of the graph on an...


Is my question, Mr. Smith, adequate in terms of asking --


MR. SMITH:  I think we have the witness's answer.


MR. QUINN:  And that was?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Could you re-ask your last question, please?


MR. QUINN:  I read the dark green line as being the firm annual transport contracts that are flowing on the northern line of TCPL.  Is that accurate, from your perspective?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That would be my understanding, looking at this graph, having not prepared the graph.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, accepted.


And then so the lighter green line shows the supplemented transport that is contracted short-term firm?  Would you agree with that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  I would agree.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So going back again, this shows the winters starting in November 2009, 2010.


As I read the 2009 period, we see that the amount of gas contracted on the TransCanada system varies, it looks like, potentially month by month to meet winter demands.  Would that be your understanding looking at it, also?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That's how I would interpret it.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so to, again, make sure we're clear, and maybe I missed your explanation, but the northern Ontario line flow, the blue part is the actual flow on the system during -- well, for each month that we're -- that's depicted on the chart?  Would you agree with that?


MR. QUIGLEY:  That is how it is described on the graph.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If we move then forward to 2010, you would see that the graph for the short-term firm supplemented contracting is a lot more jagged.


Would you have an interpretation of what that would mean for 2010?


MR. QUIGLEY:  I couldn't say why it is more jagged.


MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me it is very possible that this is people contracting for shorter periods of time than one month, potentially down to one week?


MR. QUIGLEY:  I couldn't say why it is more jagged.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You are aware that the TCPL, to the extent they have available capacity, allows parties to contract firm service on a weekly basis?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So from looking at 2010, we have a situation where the amount of contracted space varies considerably throughout the winter, and my interpretation would be, reasonably speaking, that that is people contracting for less than a month.  Is that a possible interpretation, from your perspective?


MR. SMITH:  Well, Madam Chair, I have a serious concern about this.


MS. HARE:  No, I agree with you.  I think the witness answered that he didn't know.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  So now you are asking him to speculate, and I don't think that is fair.


MR. SMITH:  I have a further concern that I want to raise now.


TCPL is going to testify in this proceeding.  I have a serious concern about my friend's interpretations subsequently being put to TCPL, because that's after Union testifies.


If my friend wanted to do any of this, this is a 2011 document, and interrogatories could have been asked of TCPL.  We would have had advance notice of TCPL's position.  We have no information, and propositions are being put to the witnesses.  I think it is manifestly unfair.


MR. QUINN:  I will abide by that.  Respectfully, I apologize to the panel if I am asking for speculation.  I was just seeking interpretation.


But I was trying to gain clarity, and trust that I will move on from there and will be asking Union about its evidentiary basis.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could I just interject here, Madam Chair?


This document is also included in a compendium that we circulated with respect to the gas supply witness panel.  It hasn't been filed yet, and perhaps I should file it now.  But the point I wanted to try to everyone's attention, that there is a second page to the answer that is in the compendium that's not with K3.1, and it makes the very point that my friend was trying to make.


So I think everybody should be aware of the second page.  And so if you are comfortable with it, I would propose to file the CME compendium now and you could take a look at it.  Would that be acceptable?


MS. HARE:  Just give us a minute.  Actually, we will come back in five minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:22 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:28 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

The Panel agrees that the witnesses cannot opine on the accuracy of this graph or the truthfulness of the graph.  You haven't prepared it.

However, you are gas supply experts.  You deal with this on a daily basis.  So we do think that discussion on the graph is of assistance to the Board, in that you can answer some of Mr. Quinn's questions in terms of possible interpretation of this.

Now, if it goes too far and you don't know the answer, that's fine.  But we do have you on this panel as you are experts, and so we think you can actually assist us.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.

I think Mr. Thompson had brought up a point in the fact that he and I have had some discussions in this regard, and I was given the actual encouragement by Mr. Buonaguro that I should have filed both page 1 and 2 so the witnesses would have all of that in front of them.

And with Mr. Thompson's experience, he has actually filed page 2 in his compendium.  So would it be possible that we could take his exhibit into the record and then we would have the second page for us to be able to refer to?

MS. HARE:  We're fine with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  This is a compendium entitled "CME compendium of documents for the gas supply witness panel."  I circulated it on Wednesday, I believe, electronically.

I've got three copies for the Board Panel, and I have sort of a master copy from which other copies could be made.

MS. HELT:  That will be marked as Exhibit K3.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.3:  CME COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS FOR THE GAS SUPPLY WITNESS PANEL.

[Mr. Thompson distributes documents to Board Panel]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, this is 3-point?

MS. HELT:  3.3.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just while you are looking at that, I have the original colour version of the PDF, both pages.  So I was going to use that on the screen.

So it is the same document, just from a different source.  Just so there is no confusion of what I am putting on the screen, because it might look slightly different.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MS. HARE:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  So I want to make sure I'm not re-ploughing ground covered, but I wanted to focus on the shift in the actual level of contracting for the winter of 2010 different from the winter of 2009.

As Mr. Buonaguro puts it up on the screen, you can see in a lot more detail the jagged nature of the level of contracting for the winter of 2010.

So I guess I was asking you:  Would you agree with me that that would reflect shorter-term firm service contracting on TCPL's system for the northern line?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Based on the page 2 that's been filed with Mr. Thompson's compendium, TCPL does state that the average term of the STS contracts in winter '10, '11 is shorter than that of winter '09, '10.

MR. QUINN:  For clarity for the record, you used the term "STS contracts"?

MR. QUIGLEY:  STFT, sorry.

MR. QUINN:  STFT contracts?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.  Short-term firm transport contracts.

MR. QUINN:  Again, with Mr. Buonaguro's help, if he could flip to page 2 of that document, this is what the -- Mr. Quigley was referring to, that it is now -- for the winter of 2010, '11 gas year, the average term of STFT contracts was 19 days, clearly less than a month.

Based upon your knowledge of the TransCanada system, would you say that the market was relying on the fact that they were aware of the approximate available capacity for STFT contracts for that winter, and contracted accordingly?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Sorry, are you asking me if they felt that the TCPL system was reliable enough that they could contract short-term?  Or that there was sufficient capacity to contract short-term?


I am not sure exactly what...

MR. QUINN:  There's sufficient capacity available to contract shorter terms.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Based on the light green line, I would concur.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, what I thought I would do -- and again, I presented this as a graph to try to create simplicity and clarity in terms of pipeline flows -- I wanted to ask the panel, and I know that you can't do it here, but if you would be able to provide your contracting for those respective winters, starting in 2009 for the two years starting November of 2009 to November '11 for the eastern delivery area, as opposed to showing the flow, you know, in terms of what TransCanada is showing in the Ontario northern line, that you would show the amount of gas that was received by Union for use for in-franchise customers.

So basically to draw that same graph using your FT contracts, your STFT contracts, and then on a monthly basis -- and I am satisfied with a monthly basis as opposed to a daily basis -- how much gas was used for in-franchise purposes in the eastern delivery area.

MR. QUIGLEY:  So just to clarify, you are asking us to provide a diagram of how much of our Empress-to-eastern delivery area contracts, what the flow was on a monthly basis on those contracts for the winter of -- which winter?

MR. QUINN:  Starting in November 2009 to November 2011, as the two full years of history that we would have.

MR. QUIGLEY:  On a planned basis?

MR. QUINN:  On a planned basis, but the flows -- to be specific, the contracts are on a planned basis but the flow is on an actual basis.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, maybe the witness should answer that last question.  The proposition was put planned versus actual.  I want to make sure that we're answering, and if there is a distinction that is relevant, I want to make sure that it is on the record.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Provide planned and actual flows.

MR. QUINN:  In addition –-

MR. QUIGLEY:  I'm trying to make sure I understand exactly what you're asking for.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I will try a concise request, then.

Using the type of graph that is provided here by TransCanada, show the contracted FT and STFT as separate lines, then show the actual deliveries received specifically for in-franchise consumption in the same way that TCPL shows the actual flows.

But as I said, I'm satisfied that that data be provided on a monthly basis; we don't need daily flows.

And so, in other words, the gas that was actually used by the utility for in-franchise customers, thus excluding the transportation used for other -- that was used for other reasons, ex-franchise purposes or optimization.

MS. HARE:  And the time period was November 1st, 2009, you suggested, to November 2011, and I'm wondering why we wouldn't go to the end of March 2012.

MR. QUINN:  That wasn't my -- in my script here, and I was trying to compare apples to apples, but yes, I think we would be better informed also, because we have gone through the winter of November '11 to March '12, if you would also give us the winter period, that would be helpful, also.

MR. SMITH:  If the witnesses know what they're being asked.  Can I just ask that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.  If I could repeat back, contracted FT, contracted STFT to Union's eastern delivery area, actual deliveries received from TCPL for in-franchise customers from November 1 of 2009 to March 31 of 2012.

MR. QUINN:  Very well said, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. HARE:  And that's the undertaking --


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO PROVIDE CONTRACTED FT AND CONTRACTED STFT TO UNION'S EASTERN DELIVERY AREA, ACTUAL DELIVERIES RECEIVED FROM TCPL FOR IN-FRANCHISE CUSTOMERS, NOVEMBER 1, 2009 TO MARCH 31, 2012.

MR. QUINN:  So, again, I won't ask the witnesses to comment on this, but I guess our read of that is part of why -- how the market is transforming, given the North American supply dynamics.

So I think with what we have on the record so far, I wanted to actually look at how the asset rights that will appear in these graphs are actually being managed by Union.

So I trust that I should be speaking to this panel about how those asset rights are used for gas supply in-franchise, and if it goes to the -- another bucket of optimization, then I would defer those questions to panel 3?  Would that be accurate, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I think directionally.  I'll have to wait for the specific questions, but directionally that sounds correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just want to make sure I'm staying on track and on focus.

So clearly we have an evolving market, and Union is trying to evolve its contracting practice to meet what I heard earlier was a prudent portfolio on behalf of its customers.

So I guess I would like to understand, with the contracts that we will be seeing in the graph, how those rights are managed throughout the course of an actual winter.

So if you could turn up - it's an interrogatory response - J.C-4-7-10, and specifically attachment 1?  Again, thank you to Mr. Buonaguro.  We have it up on the screen.

I want to make sure we understand what this table represents.  As I understand it, this table provides us with the specific amount of capacity that was contracted for by Union to meet its customers' needs, but subsequently assigned to a third party when it was deemed to be not necessary.  Do I have that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, we did not complete this graph, so you're going to have to give us -- this was the ex-franchise panel question that -- the panel that prepared this graph, so...

MR. QUINN:  I will provide you a moment, sure.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  We did not prepare this interrogatory, so that's why we're just taking some time here.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, I was going to say would it be better to leave this to the panel that has prepared this graph?

MR. SMITH:  I think so.  The question, in particular, comes from -- it's question (c), which asked for assignments relating to the RAM program that related to exchange revenue, as I understand it.

So I would say, yes, I think.  I am just pulling it up quickly.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I just interject, Madam Chair, and through you ask the witnesses whether they know how much FT that they contract for is unutilized month to month, year to year?  This is all this exhibit is showing.  I would think gas supply has to know that.

MR. SHORTS:  So when we contract for the capacity, we manage it on an ongoing basis, but when we first put the gas supply into the pipe, and then we know that gas we delivered at the expected delivery point, we do not know whether or not that S&T is actually optimizing on any particular day, for example.

So that is not what our group does.  We do not optimize or manage any of those exchanges or the usage of that capacity.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is really not my question.  Do you know what they're doing with your capacity?  I mean, surely you must get the information.  You don't just go to lunch and ignore it, I'm sure.

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, I think we should be taking in order -- I mean, I'm not sure if this is going to be a back and forth between Mr. Quinn and Mr. Thompson or if it's going to be --


MS. HARE:  No, it's not.  Mr. Quinn is going to continue.  And, Mr. Thompson, I think the panel said they didn't know.

MS. TAYLOR:  I would like to ask a question, and I realize you didn't present or prepare this particular document, but without having to assess the veracity of the numbers.

Earlier you talked about planned UDC and that you only actually had UDC, I think, in the eastern zone in the month of March, and that you were using all of your firm service for the months around it.

This would show that you are actually not using all of your firm service in more than just the eastern zone, if I understand this correctly.

So I would just like to reconcile, if you will, what this appears to be saying, without getting into who prepared it and the accuracy of it, with what you said earlier about how you manage and how you plan to use your firm capacity.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct --


MS. TAYLOR:  Aren't these things saying two different things, is my question?

MR. SMITH:  First, by way of clarification back on the record, Mr. Quinn's questions were directed at UDC --


MS. TAYLOR:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- in the eastern zone, so not correct to say the witness said there is never UDC across the zone.

So I think the question is fine, but I want the record --


MS. TAYLOR:  That's fine.  It is just showing there is UDC or apparently traded capacity in more than just the month of March, which he did say was the planned month for UDC.  So if you could just reconcile that for me?

MR. QUIGLEY:  On a planned basis, we are flowing gas at 100 percent load factor on that pipe every month except the month of March, where we take UDC in order to balance supplies, demands and an inventory level.

This, I believe, is saying within the season, the S&T group is looking at opportunities on those pipelines based on what is happening, on an actual basis, with weather and other factors.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, can you continue, please?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, please.  I am hoping this helps provide appropriate context.

In the opening examination, the panel was talking about -- that they released capacity when they determine that it is not needed from a gas supply point of view.

So I guess my first question is:  Who does that release of capacity?  Is it this gas supply panel?

MS. EVERS:  When pipe is unutilized by the utility, the gas supply team instructs S&T to release the pipe to the market such that we can obtain value for that pipe as an offset to UDC costs.  And if you look at J.C-4-7-10 that you were referring to with the chart, in the paragraph at the top of page 2, that describes that, as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I'm going to go in smaller steps, if I may.

Through the course of a winter - and we'll just choose this last winter - you get to the start of November and you determine if your storage is sufficiently full.  At some point, you determine that it is full; capacity is now not needed.

Is it the gas supply group that makes that determination?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And so --


MS. EVERS:  If I may, it is not necessarily at the 1st of November.  It is as we approach November, understanding the forecast supply position.

MR. QUINN:  Fair enough.  Good clarification.

So at that point, you determine that you do not need your November requirements.  Do you then go to the S&T group and somehow officially release that capacity for the month of November, or do you -- how does that process actually play out?

MS. EVERS:  As we approach November 1st, to the extent that we have actual variances - and it will happen typically in the summertime, but it could happen as early as April, May, June, depending on the winter month we just came out of - we would instruct S&T to release the pipe that we don't need, as we approach the November 1st target, to meet our supply requirements.

MR. QUINN:  Now, one of the clarifications that was provided was that if the time that the gas is not needed is less than a month, it is not released.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.  Typically there is no value for a pipe if we can't release it for a full month term.  So we would leave the pipe empty.

MR. QUINN:  And this is probably more of a question for panel 3, so I will respect that.

So using that same example, you're saying, in advance of the month of November, you would release it, and then the S&T group has a potential to assign these rights?  Is this what we're seeing here?

MS. EVERS:  S&T releases the pipe through an RFP process to the market.  So parties participating in that RFP process can bid on the pipe, and the highest response will receive the pipe and the asset, the assignment of the asset.

MR. QUINN:  So they receive an assignment of the asset.  Does the contract get changed to be an assignment in their name, and does it get -- is this done through TCPL?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So I guess my question would be, if we just use that one-month example:  Where Union has assigned the pipe to somebody else, who pays the bill for the demand charge for the month of November?

MS. HODGSON:  Whoever it is assigned to.

MR. QUINN:  So it goes in their name and they pay the demand charge?

MS. HODGSON:  It is called temporary assignment, and their relationship is directly with TCPL for that particular period of time.

MR. QUINN:  So TCPL sends them the bill for the demand charge for the month of November?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Is there any compensation that comes back from Union to defray the cost of that demand charge?

MS. EVERS:  Yes.  Whatever they get charged, we get credited.

MR. QUINN:  So if they pay the demand charge, then you subsequently pay them that amount, net of what value they paid you?

MS. EVERS:  What we recognize to the in-franchise customer is the cost of the TCPL pipe, the firm pipe, and then that is offset by any value that we have received from the person that the pipe's been assigned to.

So while the bill may go to the company that the pipe has been assigned to, from an accounting perspective, we recognize the firm demand cost to the ratepayer and then we offset that firm demand cost with the value of the pipe that we've released.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I have some questions that may help us.

You did refer to page 2 of J.C-4-10, so maybe I will take you to that at this point so you can walk us through what you're describing.

Then I do want to, with leave of the Panel, is to make sure we walk through this carefully.  So I just want to go paragraph by paragraph, with the different alternatives that Union has laid out as to how these assignments may actually occur.

So looking at the first paragraph - you can read it - you have excess capacity.  You've released it.  Union sees higher value for that capacity due to the RAM feature.
"All proceeds from that released capacity, including higher proceeds earned as a result of RAM, are directly streamed to system customers to offset UDC."

Obviously I read that.  In that case, who is paying the demand charge?

MS. EVERS:  The bill is going to the company where the assignment's been made, but there is an accounting to recognize that the ratepayer would pay the demand charge and that the value of what the company that's been assigned the pipe pays for that pipe, based on the fact that we've released it to the market, goes to offset the UDC cost or the demand cost that would be the firm pipe that the customer would pay for, the ratepayer would pay for.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So that's one alternative, and if I make sure I understand this correctly -- well, I think I will go through each alternative and then I will come back.

The second is when Union used the RAM to fund interruptible transport, which we discussed briefly earlier, to manage LBA, maybe you could define LBA for us.

MS. EVERS:  LBA is the limited balancing agreement we have with TCPL.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So you're using IT transportation -- now, this is the period prior to 2007.  Do you do this anymore?

MS. EVERS:  Yes.  We continue to fund IT transportation to manage LBA fees with the use of RAM credits.  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to -- and I don't need back to November 2007, but the period that we're looking at is November 2009 to March 2012 -- indicate how much IT was funded and what came back as a recovery for ratepayers?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  to INDICATE HOW MUCH IT WAS FUNDED AND WHAT CAME BACK AS RECOVERY FOR RATEPAYERS FOR PERIOD NOVEMBER 2009 TO MARCH 2012.

MR. QUINN:  I had read this as kind of a breakpoint prior to November 2007 and then after, but I would be informed by the amount of IT.

But the third is Union recognizing the benefits from the RAM program when optimizing its transportation portfolio.

So in this scenario, Union is still holding the transport; is that accurate?

MS. EVERS:  In the third paragraph, Union has released the asset, but the distinction between the first and second -- or first and third paragraph is that the supply is still being -- is still required and being delivered to Union's market through alternative arrangement.

So that is described at the he had of that third paragraph.

So in this case S&T is releasing the pipe -- I'm sorry, they are still holding the pipe.  My confusion, I apologize.

Oh, no.  Union began to assign various long-haul transport assets on a monthly, seasonal, annual basis, and they're recognizing the value placed on the TCPL pipe as a result of the RAM program.  So they are releasing that pipe.

MR. QUINN:  And in that example, then, the demand charge for the firm contract, who was ultimately paying for that?

MS. EVERS:  Ultimately, the ratepayer is paying for that firm contract.

MR. QUINN:  Is there any flow-back of the RAM benefits to the ratepayer account?

MS. EVERS:  Because the RAM feature has been released with the pipe, the person that's been assigned that pipe now has the RAM benefit or credits.

MR. QUINN:  So they have the RAM benefit, but they've paid Union Gas for that right to use that pipe in this scenario?

MS. EVERS:  The person that the pipe has been assigned to, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And where do the proceeds for that commercial transaction, where does that money flow?

MS. EVERS:  That would flow to S&T.

MR. QUINN:  S&T, as being the account that would be, subsequently, revenue for the company, which would flow into your operating statements?

MS. EVERS:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And there's a fourth scenario where Union is using the RAM credits.  Maybe you can help clarify that for us also.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just before we move on to the fourth alternative, I need to clarify in my own mind the difference between 1 and 3.

As I understand the answers from the panel, the difference between 1 and 3 is where the credits flow back.

In the first case, it comes back as an offset.  In the third case, any credits and offset are flowed to the other group.  Is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  No, that's a slightly different interpretation.  So when the pipe is assigned, in the first paragraph –-

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MS. EVERS:  -- the RAM feature is also assigned with that pipe.

So there's no RAM credits associated that flows back, but rather the value of the release that the assignee has given to Union.

MS. TAYLOR:  And that's used to offset the ratepayer costs in alternative number 1?  Okay.

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.  The other distinction between paragraph 1 and 3 is that in paragraph 1, Union does not need the pipe.  So it is un-utilized pipe, because we don't need to flow supply.

MS. TAYLOR:  And in paragraph 3?

MS. EVERS:  In paragraph 3 the pipe is being assigned, as well as the RAM feature, and the revenue from that assignment is going to S&T.

And in that case, the in-franchise customer or the utility still needs the supply, and it is being delivered through an alternative arrangement.

MS. TAYLOR:  To be clear, then, the demand charge that is attributable to the assigned capacity is not paid for by the ratepayer, because it's been assigned and they pay TCPL directly, right?  And you have received some compensation for it that goes to S&T, and then you make some other contractual arrangement to ensure in-franchise customers get gas; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, in which example, Member Taylor?

MS. TAYLOR:  Three.

MS. EVERS:  In three, the ratepayer is still paying for the firm transport that was -- from an accounting perspective, that allowed them or that was contracted to move the gas to their delivery area.

So the ratepayer is being held whole, or is indifferent.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  I'm not clear.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to try to --

MR. SMITH:  This is going to be discussed extensively in panel 3.  I have no doubt.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  But the clarification is very useful.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I would like to clarify the expression "held whole" that you used to answer Member Taylor's question.

Can you tell me how the ratepayers are held whole in the third paragraph?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, the gas is actually purchased, because it would still require -- for those customers, we have purchased that gas at the delivery point -- at the receipt point, I should say.

It still gets delivered to the receipt point or delivery point that we needed the gas for.  So therefore we had planned on and purchased gas being purchased at one end and delivered to the other end to serve those customers.

And to the extent that they had already planned and we had planned and those costs were embedded, of that, those costs continue to be borne by those customers, because from our perspective the gas supply was needed.  It was purchased and it was delivered at the same basic spot and under the same conditions as to what we had planned for and what the customers were incurring for, as rates.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, let's see if we can parse that out.

In terms of -- we have been focussing on the eastern delivery area, and Mr. Shorts, you had indicated the gas arrived, let's say in this case in the eastern delivery area through another means.

You have a commodity price at Empress and you have a commodity price in the eastern zone.

The difference between those is the basis differential, the market -- I want to be clear in my terminology here.

There's a market price at Empress.  There is a market price in the eastern delivery area.  The difference that -- the expression that is used to account for the difference is called the basis differential; is that accurate?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, the difference in price between two market areas is considered the basis differential.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you have now purchased gas in the eastern delivery area from another party.  At what price -- are you purchasing that at a market price in the eastern delivery area?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, in that situation, if I'm clear on the question, we had purchased that gas at Empress.  So we purchased that gas at Empress at a market price.

MR. QUINN:  So you purchased --


MR. SHORTS:  Then delivered that gas in whatever means possible to the eastern delivery area where it was delivered.

MR. QUINN:  Well, this is, I guess, the important point.  Through whatever means possible, if you've purchased it, let's say, in the eastern delivery area as opposed to having it flow through the TransCanada system from Empress to the eastern delivery area, you are purchasing in the eastern delivery area at a higher cost, are you not?

MR. SHORTS:  I'm sorry.  We had -- in this scenario, we had purchased gas at Empress because we hold a long-term firm contract from Empress to the EDA, and we still need the supply.

So we had purchased gas on a planned basis, on an actual basis, at Empress, and we had bought that at an Empress price, an Empress market price.

MR. QUINN:  But your counterparty you are buying from in the eastern delivery area, to land at the eastern delivery area, are they giving you the commodity at the Empress price, or is there some additional cost to recognize the different value in the market?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I don't want to sound like I'm repeating myself again, but in this scenario we, as the gas supply group, are purchasing gas to serve our customers.  We're purchasing that volume at Empress at an Empress market price.  That's -- we're purchasing the gas.  It's being delivered to the EDA.

MR. QUINN:  For free?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  There's a TransCanada -- we have a contract, long haul firm contract, from Empress to the EDA that we, on a planned basis, would be filling with that supply.

MR. QUINN:  But you have assigned that right to somebody else in alternative 3?

MR. SHORTS:  In alternative 3, the S&T group may have carried on a transaction behind the scenes to deliver that to the EDA in a different fashion; that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I see it's moving to S&T, and I've been trying to be respectful of the boundaries between panel 2 and panel 3, so I'm going to ask a question and maybe take it by undertaking, if that would be your preference, Mr. Smith, or the panel 3 can be prepared to answer it.

We've just focussed on the period of time between November 2009 and March 2012.  For each of the scenarios that have been outlined in the response of J.C-4-7-10, can you provide the amount of demand charge for the eastern assignments if -- Mr. Buonaguro, if you could go back to the attachment again?

You have from November 2009 until - it is actually on here - March of 2012 what the amount was assigned in the eastern zone.  We're just going to focus on the eastern zone.  For each of those three alternatives, define where - who ultimately paid for the demand charge and where the revenues were streamed.

So, in other words, if it was to offset UDC, then you will show us the offsetting UDC.  But in that alternative 3, Mr. Shorts, I want to be clear about, if there are any additional costs associated with landing the gas in a different way from S&T, how those are handled, so that we are comparing apples to apples.  Does that make sense?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Can I possibly simplify what -- the undertaking that you are talking about?

What you're really getting at, I think, is the price differential, the price differential as between the contracted for Empress price and the price that is ultimately realized by Union for the delivery.  Is that right?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And in some instances, that's an offset for unabsorbed demand charges, and in other instances there may be a dollar figure associated with that difference in price.  Is that what you're shooting for?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am, but if I may add to that, there is a commercial value associated with that assignment.

So the counterparty has provided some level of revenue to Union that, as we understand, depending on the scenario, it's going to different buckets, so -- to use that common vernacular.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There's arbitrages.

MR. QUINN:  So with that clarification of the buckets, is that something that the panel could undertake to provide?

MR. SMITH:  I think we can do it.  I think that the -- well, I know we can do it.  That's not the question.  I think we have done it.  I think that the source of the confusion lies in Mr. Shorts' answer.

The premise was that there was an additional purchase made in the eastern area that affects ratepayers in that instance, and the answer to that -- I mean, that question maybe should be put to the witness directly, or we can do the undertaking.

But I want to make sure that with gas supply that we get the distinction that is taking place here, because it is important and fundamental.

So I don't want to just duck into an undertaking.  That's...

MS. TAYLOR:  Can I just ask a question that I think might be helpful?  I think what we're doing is we're addressing is a molecule purchase and a transportation purchase on a bundled basis.

This latter trade in the third, you're going to have a commodity purchase at Empress and a toll that you pay on TransCanada to the eastern delivery area.  That has a bundled cost, and you're going to sell that out into the market for dollars.  And if you're going to be -- but you still have a physical requirement in the service area for the gas.

What you're doing is you're going out into the market and buying gas and transportation to get it to your service area at a lower cost than what you just told the transportation on a bundled base, I think, on a TCPL-Empress trade.  Then S&T gets that margin.

So while I agree, if this is my understanding of it, that the ratepayer is held harmless because they're, in effect, capped at that bundled trade on the TransCanada system, you have in fact taken a regulatory asset, sold it out into the market, repurchased the same service at potentially lower cost, and kept the margin.  Is that correct?

MR. SHORTS:  You said that very well.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  All as contemplated by the Board, but we will have that fight at a later point.  That's why I say I believe we've done that, in that there are a series of undertakings that talk about -- that capture through the IR period, and otherwise, the S&T revenues which would be captured by the transactions, Member Taylor, you've put on the record, which is why I say I'm not sure that an additional undertaking is required.  That's all.

But if there's something -- if there's a gap that exists, maybe we can look at the transcript and see if the undertakings fully answer it.

MS. TAYLOR:  Then a follow-on question, if I may, is whether it is symmetrical or, if so -- in effect, you will only undertake that trade if it results in a positive margin to S&T; is that correct?  If by chance it doesn't work that way, does S&T bear the loss of margin?

MR. SHORTS:  S&T would bear the complete risk on that transaction, any benefit and any extra cost.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, do you still want the undertaking?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Maybe you could rephrase it.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And, clearly, I don't know which way to approach this, getting clarification on the last question or pursuing the undertaking.

I'm going to respect the question.  You said the ratepayer is held harmless because ultimately they receive the gas at no higher cost than the bundled cost.  That is the way I think you were answering Member Taylor's question.

MR. SHORTS:  The customer was charged essentially an Empress price that we had purchased it for, and the regulated rate for that TransCanada toll to the eastern delivery area.  That is embedded within our delivery rates in that transaction.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well --


MS. HARE:  Do you know what, Mr. Quinn?  I am going to suggest we take our break now and we will come back at, say, 20 after, and that will give you some time to think about the undertaking, whether you still want to pursue it or not, or maybe how you phrase it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.



MS. HARE:  Twenty after 11:00.  Let's make it 25 after 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 11:08 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:34 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

We had considerable discussion before the break, and I have given it some consideration and I believe that ultimately it would be more informative if I can request the undertaking, and I can concisely present my request for undertaking and then we can discuss --


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Please do.

MR. QUINN:  -- how it might be handled.

So for the period November 2009 to March 2012 which we have been discussing, J.C-4-7-10 shows for the eastern zone the amount of -- the daily amount of gJs that was assigned on a monthly basis for each of the respective months.

What we would like is, on a monthly basis, please provide the demand cost associated with the assigned contracts and then provide the amount, the proceeds from the commercial transactions for this assignment, and to show, for each month, how much of it went to offset UDC, how much went to reduce cost of transport and how much flowed to S&T revenues.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  ON A MONTHLY BASIS, TO PROVIDE DEMAND COST ASSOCIATED WITH ASSIGNED CONTRACTS AND PROCEEDS FROM COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS FOR THIS ASSIGNMENT, AND SHOW FOR EACH MONTH HOW MUCH WENT TO OFFSET UDC, HOW MUCH WENT TO REDUCE COST OF TRANSPORT AND HOW MUCH FLOWED TO S&T REVENUES.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Well, the -- I believe, just on reflecting on Member Taylor's question, Mr. Shorts has a clarification, which is why I was...

MR. SHORTS:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

And I just wanted to make sure it was clear.  We're not talking about a bundled transportation situation here, and I just wanted to be clear.

We're still purchasing the commodity at Empress, at that Empress market price.  We are receiving that gas in the EDA, where we had required it.

What's happened in this situation is that the customer, the end-use customer, is paying for the actual commodity price we incurred at Empress, and the exact rate that they would have been charged under the TransCanada toll and the embedded tolls as approved in Union's rates.

They don't -- they don't pay anything extra in that scenario, just to be clear.

MS. TAYLOR:  So as a follow-on question for that, is the gas purchase arrangement still the same and at the same price?

MR. SHORTS:  The gas purchase arrangement is at exactly the same, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  So the transportation path that you are using, is it the same or is it a different one?

MR. SHORTS:  It could be a different path.  It could be a different path, but it still is delivered where we need it in the EDA.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  And I think I will pick --


MS. HARE:  Now, I just want to make sure, because Ms. Taylor did refer to bundled and you pointed out it wasn't bundled, but are you not purchasing gas in the EDA from another source, then?

MR. SHORTS:  From a gas -- as gas supply, we're purchasing the gas at Empress.  We're purchasing gas at Empress.  It's being –- that's a separate commodity transaction, and that gas is being delivered into the EDA.

MS. HARE:  For your own use?  You are not assigning that to another party?

MR. SHORTS:  The gas supply?

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. SHORTS:  We're not assigning gas supply, no.

MS. HARE:  It is just the transportation?

MR. SHORTS:  Just the transportation.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think that might allow me to head down that path.

Just to clarify Mr. Shorts, when you're saying that, in that transaction that you've now received gas, you specified that it arrives at the EDA.  Is it possible that it arrives at Union, but it arrives at Dawn instead?

MR. SHORTS:  That gas would arrive where we had expected it to arrive at.

MR. QUINN:  But in the -- if you have assigned a contract to the EDA for, let's just say, the month of July, you would take receipt of that gas in the EDA?  Or --


MR. SHORTS:  That gas would be delivered as if it was -- where it was planned to be delivered to.

MR. QUINN:  But if the ultimate destination was not necessarily the EDA but storage, could it actually be delivered at Dawn instead, by your counterparty?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure, to tell you the truth.

MR. QUINN:  Is that a question for panel 3, then?

MR. SHORTS:  It could have been the summertime.  If we -- that EDA gas was ultimately destined to go to storage in the summertime, then we could have had the counterparty deliver that gas to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So you --


MR. SHORTS:  As it would have been in the plan.

MR. QUINN:  So you would give up -- I shouldn't say that.  You would assign the right to go from Empress to EDA to a third party, and they would provide you the comparable quantity of gas potentially at Dawn and you -- and at that point, you would then receive some benefit from that party to reflect the commercial value of the TCPL RAM credits by you leaving that pipe empty?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Quinn, the mechanics behind those exchanges, that's really best suited for the next panel.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will defer, then.  Thank you.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just before we move on, is there any instance with this type of trade where the gas is not purchased at the original contracted point?

So in this example that you're talking about, Empress to EDA, do you always maintain the initial gas purchase contract?  Or does that also go?

MR. SHORTS:  No.  We maintain that gas purchase price.

MS. TAYLOR:  There is no arbitrage or trading around the gas position itself; it is solely related to the contract path and the cost of that path; is that right?

MR. SHORTS:  Correct.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Earlier we talked about the approach of how you planned for annually and seasonally using the SENDOUT program, and I guess what I would like to clarify is you are now purchasing gas predominantly on an annual basis, and the chart will show us the actual purchase pattern, but you are potentially assigning -- well, you are assigning a certain amount of those rights away each and every month, and I guess I'm trying to understand why you would keep the long-haul transport.

So can you help me with why, what reasons you would have to keep the long-haul transport?

You did cover some in your opening remarks, but I want to make sure we have clarity on it.

MS. HODGSON:  Your reference to "chart," I was just curious which chart.  Are you talking about that chart originally that we were looking at?  You said something about "in a chart."

MR. QUINN:  What I referred to, sorry, I looked at the screen because Mr. Buonaguro still has J.C-4-7-10, attachment 1 up on the screen.

MS. HODGSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  So that's the chart I was referring to.  Thank you for the clarity.

MS. HODGSON:  Sorry, and your question?

MR. QUINN:  Union has maintained -- well, I will ask the question.

During that period of time, the period of time we have been discussing, November 2009 and moving forward, you have long-term, long-haul contracts.

Can you help us understand, again, why you would keep a long-term annual contract, as opposed to contracting shorter-term?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, I can do that.

The short-term firm transportation options that are available have some significant downsides from underpinning long-term firm assets.

The big one is that it is not renewable.  So in terms of having firm long-term assets, the only way that we have to ensure that we can continue to get those long-term firm assets is through the contractual right to renew.

So short-term firm transportation doesn't carry the right to renew.  It actually -- the term that you can get it for is one day less than a year.  So you can't renew it.  That is a significant downside.

Another significant downside is we rely very much on a service called "storage and transportation service" or "STS service" is what it is often referred to.  And that allows us tremendous flexibility in managing our -- in managing storage for the -- I'm not saying that quite the right way -- in managing our flexibility of moving our molecules for storage for the north.  There is no other way that our storage customers in the north -- sorry, there is no other ways that our north customers can access storage without that service.

And long-term –- long-haul on TCPL is the only prerequisite to getting that service.  So that's a significant benefit.

The other issue is cost.  We are -- although there is total uncertainty on TCPL, we know that that -- what that contracted cost is.  It is not a biddable service, if you will.  You can't bid it up higher.

Short-term firm transportation is a biddable service.  So when you go into the marketplace or go to bid for it on TCPL, people can compete with a different price.

So those are the big -- those are probably the big things, why we would stay with our long-term firm transportation. 

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. HODGSON:  And, again, back to our principles -- sorry, just one more point.  Back to our principles, it would be imprudent to use other services than firm transportation.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to leave that last point, I guess, for argument.  So I will cover them in reverse order, then.

You said contracted STFT, you would have to compete for the service.  Does Union monitor the open seasons of TransCanada to determine the amount of transport that is actually taken up relative to the amount that was available?

MS. HODGSON:  We monitor what is offered and what is available.

MR. QUINN:  And how much was actually contracted for?  Do you follow that when the bids are closed and TCPL puts its index of customers out?

MS. HODGSON:  Union might.  This group does not -- I do not.

MR. QUINN:  You're the gas supply group, though, and -


MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  -- you're trying to find the most economical way of getting the gas.  You have said one of the reasons you would not want STFT is because you might get into some form of bidding war that would raise the price.

MS. HODGSON:  We look for economical, but security and reliability are our primary focus at a prudently incurred price.  So short-term firm transportation, again, is not renewable.

MR. QUINN:  So it's not renewable.  But you don't have any knowledge that you would have to bid -- bid above the firm toll price?

MS. HODGSON:  I know that it's a biddable service.

MR. QUINN:  But I guess as a gas supply panel and you're looking for economic alternatives, wouldn't it be --


MS. HODGSON:  I can only bid up.  I can't bid down.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So would the amount that was available versus the amount that was actually contracted for not be market information you would want to have?

MS. HODGSON:  I guess I'm not sure why it would be relevant.

MR. QUINN:  Because it would tell you that you're probably not going to be in a bidding war.  If a million units were available and 500,000 were contracted for, would that not give you an indication that the firm toll price was not bid up?

MS. HODGSON:  The principles that Mr. Shorts spoke to are independent of current market conditions.  So today there might be excess capacity on TCPL, but tomorrow there might not be, and I am not willing to go into the market to say it may or may not be available.

The only way that I can ensure that Union Gas has long-term firm transportation is through contractual rights, and STFT does not have that.

MR. QUINN:  Does not have what contractual rights?

MS. HODGSON:  Renewable right, the right to renew.

MR. QUINN:  And to the extent that you turned back a contract and the next year said, You know what?  We had to pay a little bit more for that service, would you not have the opportunity to enter into another long-term agreement?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So you could get that transportation back if you determined that --


MS. HODGSON:  If it's available, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And, again, going back, do you monitor how much capacity is available in the TransCanada system to see if that is one of the alternatives you would consider?

MS. HODGSON:  I thought your question was around STFT.  My apologies.  Long-term, yes, we're aware of what's available.

MR. QUINN:  And so if you decided that your need was more winter related and you wanted to bid for the winter, you're telling us your risk would be -- if you turn back the associated contract that was delivering the gas to the east, at that point you would have the opportunity to deliver in the winter.

To the extent that that in some way created a higher cost, you would have the opportunity to recontract with TransCanada for a long-term contract; is that not right?

MS. HODGSON:  I think it goes back to what Mr. Quigley was speaking to earlier around what we need in the EDA.

MR. SHORTS:  As well, Mr. Quinn, just to add to that, as Ms. Hodgson mentioned, it is not just the cost.  Cost is obviously a factor, but, you know, those other characteristics, for example, the STS and the extra non-windows that come with the STS and the flexibility it provides, those are really key attributes as to why we have to continue with the way -- the service that we've contracted for so far.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I was going to move to that, so maybe -- because I'm not sure we're getting clarity on the STFT opportunity.  You've talked about the value of the STS service.

My specific question is:  If you have -- like as shown in the chart in J.C-4-7-10, if you have assigned that right to somebody else and the pipe stayed empty so that the counterparty has used the FT RAM credits, do you get STS credits?

MS. HODGSON:  STS doesn't work like that.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I mean.  And I guess my question -- okay, then maybe it is helpful to the panel.

The STS system is storage transportation service from TransCanada Pipelines.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  To the extent that gas arrives in the market area and it is incremental to the needs of, in this case, the eastern delivery area, you would then receive a credit for injecting into your STS contract; is that accurate?

MS. HODGSON:  There is a lot of "ifs" in there.  I'm sorry, can you break that down again?

MR. QUINN:  You have a contract for 1,000 gJs to the EDA.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  In the summer, the gas arrives in Ontario and you don't have a need for it in the eastern delivery area, so you want to have that gas arrive at Dawn.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So you then would be given a credit by TransCanada for that 1,000 gJs, because it wasn't delivered to the eastern delivery area?

MS. HODGSON:  Can I pause you there?  It was delivered in the eastern delivery area, which I thought we had clarified, and we would then inject it with the STS service, which gets it to storage at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I will just follow the way you've said it.  I think we're just missing each other on vernacular.

MS. HODGSON:  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  So there is 1,000 gJs that you have diverted to Dawn and you received an STS credit from TransCanada for the 1,000 units?

MS. HODGSON:  We would use the STS service to inject it into Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sorry, I keep going back to the way I say it.

With that credit in hand, you now can take that gas and deliver it to another location later on in the winter?  That gives you the right to use 1,000 units of STS in the winter to withdraw it from storage and redeliver it?  Is that accurate?

MS. HARE:  Mr. Quinn, you keep saying "credit", and I think the witness has said a couple of times there is no credit.  But maybe I will allow the witness to...

MS. HODGSON:  That's what -- I'm sure I have an odd look on my face.  What I don't understand is you keep saying there is a credit, and I don't understand what credit is generated, because I don't --


MR. QUINN:  It is vernacular, and I apologize.

You have 1,000 units added to your STS balance?

MS. HODGSON:  When -- when we inject it?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.  I'm with you.

MR. QUINN:  So if that pipe is instead assigned to somebody else and left open for the purposes of generating FT RAM credits for a third party, do you receive 1,000 units into your balance?

MS. HODGSON:  Do we receive 1,000 units?  Sorry, I will just be a moment.

[Witness panel confers]

MS. HODGSON:  Are you asking if the balance goes up?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. HODGSON:  Okay, yes.  I'm with you.  Yes, it goes up.

MR. QUINN:  If the pipe is left empty --


MS. HODGSON:  Sorry.  If the pipe -- can I start again?

MR. QUINN:  Please.

MS. HODGSON:  Can I play it back to you just so that -


MR. QUINN:  Please.

MS. HODGSON:  So we're buying gas at Empress.  We're having it delivered in the EDA.  We have assigned away the pipe.  That's your scenario.

And we are injecting it or moving -- we are injecting it into STS with our STS service, and our cumulative balance increases; is that what you're...

MR. QUINN:  The clarity I am trying to create is, if you have assigned it away, you do not have the right to inject it into your --


MS. HODGSON:  We have a right to inject it, yes, into STS.

MR. QUINN:  You say you do have a right?

MR. SMITH:  Can I help?  I think Mr. Quinn is asking:  When you a scene your TCPL contract, do you assign the STS rights that go with that contract away?  Is that the question?

MR. QUINN:  No.  The pipe is being assigned away.  It is left empty.  To effect an increase in your STS balance, you would have needed to have flowed the gas on the pipe; is that not accurate?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. HARE:  Maybe you could rephrase or just ask the question again and let the panel take an undertaking.  Would that be more productive use of our time?

MR. QUINN:  I am very comfortable to do that.

MS. HARE:  All right.  We're going to let you take an undertaking.

MS. HODGSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  What we're trying to get clarity on for the assignments that are shown in J.C-4-7-10, when those assignments are to a third party for the purposes of creating a FT RAM credit, does Union increase its balance of STS injections as a result of -- as a result, in this case, of keeping the pipe empty?

MR. SMITH:  I will ask the panel, if I may, if they can answer that question now, or if it would be better by way of undertaking.

MS. HODGSON:  I think, if I understand the question, it does not -- so if we assign away the pipe, the STS injection cumulative balance, we have no additional rights to inject.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. HODGSON:  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry that took some time.  Because it's clear to me -- I guess, maybe in some ways -- that if you're assigning rights, the STS value that Mr. Shorts was referring to is not an issue; would you agree with me, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  We still require the STS.  For example, even in our planning purposes, we require that STS to help us manage movement to and from, so it's not just to storage, but it would be also away from storage when we would require those volumes.

MR. QUINN:  So as the planning people, if you are allowing the capacity to be assigned, you have already determined that you don't need that extra injection balance that would have come with filling the pipe?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. EVERS:  If we understand correctly, Mr. Quinn, what we believe is the point of your question is, to the extent we don't have firm pipe, we can't inject into our STS balance, which would mean that we don't have a cumulative balance to withdraw, I believe is where you're going.

What we do ensure that we have is the ability to still inject and have a cumulative balance so that service is still available to us when we need it to manage our portfolio.

That still promotes the value of the STS service Mr. Shorts described.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And when you are quantifying how much you need, you've determined that when you assigned the right away, that you don't need this -- injection credits and injections that would have come as a result of filling that pipe?

MS. EVERS:  We evaluate the impact on the cumulative balance.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you've determined that it would still be prudent to assign it away because you have sufficient balance for your needs for the winter?

MS. EVERS:  I would repeat that we have evaluated the STS balance, the cumulative balance, to make sure that we still have access to that service when we need it to meet our needs.

MR. QUINN:  You have access to service, but not to the -- November 2009, there is 80,000 gJs.  You have determined you do not need that 80,000 gJs.

Well, let me be specific, because I think I am not going to get...

July 2010, there is 92,832.  If you have assigned that amount of pipe away, you recognize that you will not get the associated STS injections associated with that, and you are satisfied that you have enough STS capability for the winter?

MS. EVERS:  That is one month of a year where we evaluate our cumulative balance, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So keep J.C-4-7-10 in front of you.  What we have from November 2009 to -- of course until March 2012, each and every month, each and every day of every month, you have assigned a certain amount of transport to a third party.

And that party is paying you for that right, but you have recognized that you don't need the STS credit that would normally flow from filling that pipe?

[Witness panel confers]


MS. EVERS:  We might suggest that S&T, the ex-franchise panel might be in a better position to respond to that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will move on, then.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, just before you do, I want to make sure I understand.

Given that you're selling somebody's else's service, in effect, TransCanada's, the STS is not severable at all, is it?

MS. HODGSON:  No, it's not.

MS. TAYLOR:  And you don't engage in a separate transaction to buy that right back from the third party to whom you have sold it?

MS. HODGSON:  We do not.

MS. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  So I guess –- and maybe I will put a proposition forward and then try to finish off quickly as I may.

It's clear, at least from our perspective, that the market -- from the graph I showed earlier -- the market is moving to a shorter-term contracting to manage their eastern deliveries.

Then that market is also being demonstrated in the -- in J.C-4-10 that there is a value associated with that assignment.  Union is getting money for that assignment right.

So the market has determined there is a cheaper way of getting gas to Ontario, and it has it is demonstrating that by bidding for the right to have Union's pipe and use the FT RAM credits.

So if the market sees it's valuable and they have the opportunity of bringing it to Ontario at a cheaper price and pay Union Gas a premium on top of that, would it not inform a prudent planner that there are other alternatives to consider than FT long-haul contracts?

MR. SHORTS:  Sorry, I didn't understand when you said "at a premium to" at the end of your statement.

MR. QUINN:  From what's on the record, Union has received value for these assignments, for a third party's opportunity to use the FT RAM rights associated with that capacity.

So Union has been paid to transfer that responsibility to someone else.  So if I understand your testimony earlier, Mr. Shorts, that third party is bringing the gas to Ontario, not charging anything more for that right.  They're landing the gas where you need it, and they are paying you, on top of that, money for the right to keep that pipe empty and use the FT RAM credits.

Is that not indicative that the market has found lower-cost, economical ways of getting gas to Ontario?

MR. SHORTS:  And again, I think to reiterate, as I mentioned before, this would not be my expectation.  This is not utilities or utility buyers that are contracting for the STFT.

This is most likely end-users, direct purchase customers, et cetera, that are likely contracting for this.

We have that long-term fiduciary responsibility of making sure we have firm assets in place to serve those -- to serve the bundled and system customers.

And you know, I mean, a lot of those customers in the north that want to take that risk also know that the utility would do whatever it could to help them if that didn't show up on a given day.

MR. QUINN:  Clearly you've separated the utility responsibility from what some people in the market may do.

Are you familiar with the Enbridge system reliability proceeding?

MR. SHORTS:  Very high-level.

MR. QUINN:  Very high-level?

So you're aware that part of their system reliability, Enbridge went out and bought 200,000 gJs per day of incremental short-term firm transport for the winter, to take care of their concerns about system reliability?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, but I believe that on -- I mean, that was in response to their concern that others were not meeting their firm obligations.

MR. QUINN:  And yet they are contracting for that gas to meet the system reliability needs of their franchise?

MR. SHORTS:  And streaming those costs to those customers.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So they decided to use short-term firm for the winter as one of the options.

I guess what I want to do to try to shorten our time here is ask you to take an undertaking for the gas supply plan that is currently in place in your evidence, that if you remove the constraint that you must have a firm transport contract and utilized short-term firm, either on a seasonal, monthly or a weekly basis, if you so choose, I want you to try to provide us an answer to what the cost, the total cost of transport for the annual cycle would be if you used short-term firm as one of the options, and the resulting -- and what I would like you to do is move the constraint to being eliminating the UDC.

Are you able to do that?

MR. SMITH: Well, that's a very large request.  There's a problem, which is the STFT service is a biddable service, so we would need to know an assumed price.  Re-running the entire gas supply plan is a significant request.

I would ask the witnesses to advise whether this is doable and in what period of time, and what assumptions would need to be made.

I mean, this is -- if this was an area of interest, I would have expected to have heard about this a lot sooner than right now.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I can clarify, if I may, to simplify the undertaking.  Use the exact same SENDOUT model you have, take the constraint off only long-term -- or the long-term contract that you have there, move some to short-term firm.  And to simplify it, again, use the winter or use individual months during the winter to meet your gas supply needs and eliminate the UDC.

So, specifically, and maybe this is just illustrative -- no, I guess I wanted to make sure we have something for the record.

MR. SMITH:  I don't want this to be illustrative, if my friend is going to take the position at the end that the gas supply plan is imprudent.  I don't think this is a shorthand type of request.

I think it should be done properly, and I think that the request, if it was to have been made, ought to have been made a long time ago, and I would still like the witnesses to advise of the extent of the request.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I say that it is for the entire winter STFT is used as an alternative, the main constraint is to eliminate UDC to the extent possible, and tell us what the annualized costs are for transport and UDC as a result of moving more purchases to STFT.  Could that be accomplished?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think we have to hear from the witnesses as to whether or not this is possible, whether the request to eliminate UDC, wave it away, is possible.

MR. QUIGLEY:  The request is possible.  It is the amount of time that it would take to do it.  To do it and would provide the same rigour around -- we do our gas plan, you're talking several weeks to turn around the gas line, because we will have to make a number of assumptions on what long haul contracts we would turn back, what short haul contracts we would buy, what the price is for those, because we need to provide the same rigour as we do in our normal gas planning process.

MR. QUINN:  I guess the challenge I'm having here is we have UDC on the record.  They have told us this is required, that we have planned UDC, and yet there are tools that are available in the market.  As we have seen, tab -- STFT provide some of that winter delivery that Enbridge is clearly using in their own way for that same purpose.

So I thought if you used the same model, then we wouldn't have to go through the rigour of analyzing contracts and the best fit, just revise your TCPL obligations to include STF and not an annualized FT contract.

MR. SMITH:  The only people who are experts here in how to prepare the gas supply plan are the gas supply panel, and just adding STFT is not going to solve a problem unless you back out your long-term position, which obviously you have to make certain decisions about.

There was no mention of this at the technical conference.  There was no interrogatory to do this.  The prefiled evidence was provided eight months ago.

MS. HARE:  The Panel will deliberate on this issue over the lunch break.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Well, then since we've referenced the technical conference, if you can turn up JT1.9, and specifically the attachment?  There is a one-page attachment.

Now, I'm going to try to clarify concisely.  The transportation capacity quantity that is shown in the table on the left-hand side, that's the total amount of contracts to each of the respective delivery areas in the eastern zone; is that correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, it is.  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  And then following along the respective categories, quantity that was turned back or expired, which is a total of the quantity expired and the quantity turned back for each of the respective delivery areas for each of the respective years?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  What we were trying to ask in that technical conference was:  What was the amount that was available to be turned back in those periods?  And I would like that information, again, in this case.  By the form of undertaking would probably be most effective.

MR. SMITH:  I think we can do that.  I'm just not sure where we stood with the first request.

MS. HARE:  The one that we just talked about?  The Panel is going to consider the request --


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.  Then we will -- the second request we will -- we can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  That was our original request.  I didn't have clarity with it, so I appreciate --


MS. HARE:  To be clear, because what I heard was that it is a lot of work and it will take a few weeks.

MR. SMITH:  They're different requests.

MS. HARE:  No, I understand that.  I'm speaking about the first one where would we heard it was a lot of work.  So the Panel will discuss whether or not we think the information is helpful to us in making our decision.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you.  Now, we received information this morning, Mr. Smith, that you provided that the next undertaking -- or, sorry, the next exhibit we were going to turn to that was marked this morning as Exhibit K3.2, there is some amendments that are going to be made to that.

So for the purposes of clarity, if the witnesses could expand upon what is answered versus what will be answered, we would like to, if we may, see that exhibit at some point in this proceeding, and maybe it is before panel 3, and then have an opportunity to get clarity on that portion.

So, yes, Mr. Buonaguro, if you would -- and, witness panel, if you would turn to the attachment, which is the second page, there is attachment 1, and then the second page is attachment 2.  So it is at page 4 of 4, yes.

Maybe the panel can describe what we're seeing here and the changes that they are undertaking.

MR. QUIGLEY:  The attachment lists the south Union transportation contracts, the point of supply, point of delivery, the actual UDC as a percentage of the route total, the actual percentage use for optimization and the amount of short-term transportation and exchange revenue.

And where I believe the confusion lies is in the definition of "optimization", especially as it relates to the TCPL-Union-CDA contract.

It's my understanding that, from Union's perspective, optimization would mean, from a gas supply perspective, the efficient use of the transportation.  I believe from the intervenors' perspective, they are thinking of optimization as related to S&T revenue.

So if you look at the TCPL-Union-CDA contract in column E where the actual percentage use for optimization lists 95 percent, on a planned basis that contract is flowing at 100 percent load factor to the south.  On a north design day that contract is being -- volumes from that contract are being diverted to serve the north -- the northern delivery areas.

So there are situations where the gas is being moved around in order to meet end use demands that have been included as optimization, and I believe that the schedule is being revised to include just S&T optimization for that line.

MR. QUINN:  So the column "Actual percentage Use For Optimization", that is the only column that will be changed?

MR. SMITH:  Well, no.  Mr. Quinn, to assist, the misinterpretation, or what I thought might be subject to misinterpretation, is the short form that optimization equals S&T exchange revenue.

So the most obvious example is the 95 percent.  We'll take a look at every one of the entries there to make sure that what you are given is the percentage that relates to S&T revenues for use in that other proceeding. 

That's what we wanted to make sure was perfectly clear.

MR. QUINN:  So if I play that back, the 95 percent, are you saying, Mr. Quigley, that 95 percent of the time the gas doesn't necessarily land at Parkway, from Empress to Parkway?  It is used either for the north or used for optimization purposes?

Or is there another category that we're missing?

MR. QUIGLEY:  I'm not certain, as I didn't prepare this schedule myself.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I will defer to the -- finishing that, and I would ask, if I may, to ask questions when we see the revised -- and would panel 3 be in a position to answer those questions?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  We will make sure that we have this available either today or on Monday, so that by the time panel 3 comes up, you will be in a position to answer -- ask your questions in relation to the document.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That will be helpful.  Thank you.

I am almost finished my time, and I just would ask that you turn up J.C-4-7-9, specifically attachment 2 of that IR response.

And again, Mr. Smith, this could go to panel 3, but I am just trying to understand and get clarity in what the content of the chart is.

There is a category -- sorry, I'm actually looking at the screen.  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  J.C-4-7-9.

MR. SMITH:  Which attachment?

MR. QUINN:  Attachment 2.  Under the RAM revenue there is something called "other" and we're still, again, understanding that we're -- the capacity assignments and what we have been discussing so far, I think we're going to get some clarity on, but this "other" category has escaped our understanding.

Could somebody on this panel provide a definition of what "other" -- or is that panel 3?

MS. EVERS:  That would be panel 3.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then we will defer that to panel 3.

With that, those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Brett, I have your time estimate as 45 minutes, so could you take us to lunch?

MR. BRETT:  I don't think I am next, though.  I think TransCanada is next.

MS. HARE:  Well, I am actually looking at the time estimates and who we can finish before lunch.

Does it make a difference?

TransCanada has given an estimate of --


MR. BRETT:  Excuse me.  I can go now, if you wish.

MS. HARE:  That would be great.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Just if I may, panel, picking up on one small point with respect to what Mr. Quinn was asking you, you mentioned that the FT -- having an FT contract as a prerequisite to getting STFT; is that right?

MS. HODGSON:  No, sorry.  It is a prerequisite to the STS service, which is storage and transportation.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, that's -- no, I understand.  I mis-said it.  I misspoke.  That's what I meant.

When you say it is a precedent for that, how does that work?

Is it sort of a -- can you give me a little further elaboration of what does that mean?  Do you have to hold an FT contract to hold an STFT contract -- STS contract?  Or do you have to have -- I heard someone speak of gas flowing through an FT contract.

What is it exactly you have to have by way of an FT contract to allow you to become eligible to purchase from TransCanada an STS contract?  What is the nature of that precedent?

MS. HODGSON:  It's in the STS contract, that you hold long-haul on TCPL, that you have a long-haul firm transportation service.

MR. BRETT:  On a unit-for-unit basis or dollar-for-dollar basis?

MS. HODGSON:  There is no reference from quantities.  There is no -- there's nothing documented in the contract that says you must hold X –- there's no X-to-Y correlation.

MR. BRETT:  Let me put it another way.

If you held a single FT contract with TransCanada, you could get as much, everything else being equal, as much STS contractual capability as they had available?

MS. HODGSON:  I don't know if that's true.

MR. BRETT:  Could you undertake to clarify that, please?  I would like to know the nature of that relationship in somewhat more detail.  Perhaps we could have an undertaking on that.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO EXPLAIN FT CONTRACT REQUIREMENT NEEDED TO BE ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE AN STS CONTRACT FROM TRANSCANADA.

MR. BRETT:  And my questions will be -- well, there are two main areas.

One was just a little bit more follow-up to Mr. Quinn on some of his questions.  And he's covered a lot of the ground, so I'll keep my questions just to the areas that I think I still need some explanation.

And then I have a few more questions on the planning aspects of the gas use -- of the gas planning function that you folks are responsible for.

And so maybe just for continuity I will start with the questions relating to FT RAM matters.  And if I get into an area, I'm sure you will tell me if you don't know or it's something that the next panel can deal with.  You can let me -- just let me know that.

We had asked you an interrogatory -- this is BOMA had asked you an interrogatory about the history of FT RAM.  This was J.D -- as in "dairy" -- 1-16-2.  I don't know that you need to turn that up, but you may wish to have it.

We just asked there for a bit of history on FT RAM, and you kindly provided that.  And perhaps just to summarize at a very high level, whichever of you can answer, you will agree that FT RAM has become a feature of the TransCanada tariff, right?

MS. HODGSON:  It's a feature of the firm transportation service that TCPL offers.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  Which is part of the TCF tariff schedule; correct?  It is a part of the tariff, is it not?

MS. HODGSON:  It is a part of the tariff, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And on the other hand, the credits that you earn, that an FT shipper earns, the IT credits that it earns are also referred to and are part of the IT toll schedule for TransCanada; correct?

In other words, to put it another way, if you look at the IT, TransCanada's IT toll schedule, you will see a section in that toll schedule which talks about the billing provisions.  You send the bill.  TransCanada sends a monthly bill out for everybody for IT service.  Then there is a part of the toll schedule that says when you're paying this bill, you can credit the following, and they list the FT RAM credits that are available.

MS. HODGSON:  There is a RAM program in place, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  In the IT toll schedule.

MS. HODGSON:  I'm not sure it is in the IT toll schedule.  I'm not sure exactly where it is located.

MR. BRETT:  But you do agree it is part of the TransCanada tariff?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And the history of it, I don't think we need to go into.  It started as a pilot project, it was gradually enlarged, and it has just become an important part of the -- an important factor presently, would you agree, in the marketplace?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe it is a program that is used, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, if I can -- I'm going to ask you to just -- this will be a little disjointed, partly because it is following on a lengthy cross-examination that has covered a lot of the ground.

But if I can ask you to turn up J.C-4-7-9 again, please, that's the one you were discussing a little bit with Mr. -- with my colleague.  Do you have that?

And I would like you to look at attachment 1, if you could.  Do you have that?

MS. HODGSON:  It's on the screen.

MR. BRETT:  I'm not sure who this is for, but it might be for you, Ms. Hodgson.  Am I right there?

I want you to look at line 3, "RAM credits generated."

And as I understand it, that line lays out the dollar value of the RAM credits that you have -- that Union has generated over the years by virtue of its holding of longer-term -- of what I'll call RAM-eligible firm service, which is long-term FT, the STS, and one or two sort of slight modifications thereof.

Is that fair?  I mean, that's what you've earned?

MS. HODGSON:  I did not prepare this schedule or this response.

MR. BRETT:  Do you know who prepared this?  Is this a panel 3 schedule?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe it is.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, then what I would like to do is ask you this.  Do you -- first of all, at a general level, you have this array of FT contracts with TransCanada; correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. BRETT:  Long-term -- LTFT contracts with TransCanada?

MS. HODGSON:  Long-term firm transport, yes.

MR. BRETT:  By virtue of that you -- and by virtue of the way the FT RAM program works, you build up a large number of credits, and those are credits -- do you agree with me those are credits that allow the holder -- that allow you to purchase IT service at a very low price, at effectively the commodity rate?  Is that right?

MS. HODGSON:  I agree that the RAM credits are generated if the firm transportation is left empty.

MR. BRETT:  Do you agree that they're generated, and do you agree that they allow -- give you the right -- give Union the right to purchase IT transportation on TransCanada at a very low price?  Is that right?

MS. HODGSON:  You can use those credits or spend those credits, if you will, using interruptible transportation on TCPL; that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  That was my question.  One of the ways you can use those credits is to buy your own interruptible transportation as Union; right?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Now, my question -- my next question is:  Have you bought -- have you used those credits to, yourself, buy IT transportation over the last several years, or not, and, if you have, what percentage of those credits have you used yourself?  And I would have thought offhand, without being too much of an editor, that this is a gas supply matter, because here we're speaking of whether or not you are acquiring interruptible transportation for your own purposes.

Have you done that?

MS. HODGSON:  Again, what we do, in terms of the gas supply department, is we purchase the long-term firm transportation.  We wouldn't plan to buy interruptible to meet our long-term firm market.

MR. BRETT:  So you have no interruptible gas in your long-term plan?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. BRETT:  I think Mr. Shorts has made that abundantly clear.

What I'm asking is a little different.  As you go forward every month that you maintain a portfolio of long-term FT contracts, you continually build up an inventory, if I can put it that way, of IT credits; correct?

MS. HODGSON:  Only if it's not used.  If we flow gas on the firm transportation --


MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry, I should have made that clear.  If you have UDC; correct?

MS. HODGSON:  If the firm transportation, if gas does not flow, then, yes, RAM credits are generated.

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  And, I'm sorry, that was my mistake.  I should have made that clear.

Let me -- I have -- let me ask you if you agree with what I think -- what I think the RAM credit is.  And I have a statement that I would just like to read, a short one here.  It is from the TransCanada website, and it says:
"The RAM credit is a dollar amount and is designed to allow a shipper to transport a quantity of IT equal to the quantity of unutilized FT..."


If I stop there, is that your understanding, as well?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe I'm looking at the same document.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, you would be.

MS. HODGSON:  The risk alleviation mechanism.  And while it continues to explain it, that's the beginning of it, yes.

MR. BRETT:  And you would agree with that explanation there?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe it captures, generally, my understanding of the RAM program.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I guess the key items that I take from this, and I wondered if you would agree, is that it allows the holder, the party that has acquired the RAM credits, to use those credits to buy IT, and he can buy it -- it doesn't have to be on exactly the same contract path.  It can be a different contract path, correct?

MS. HODGSON:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  But does it still have to be the same month or can it be in a later month?

MS. HODGSON:  No.  The credits are generated in the same month that they have to be used.

MR. BRETT:  That's my understanding, but I had seen some contrary material.  But, all right.  So your understanding is it must be used within the month?

MS. HODGSON:  In the same month that the credits are generated.

MR. BRETT:  Right, right.

Now, my question -- my next -- just to follow on the question, the earlier question, I didn't complete it.

Given what we've just said, do you, as Union, use some of those credits to purchase interruptible gas on an ongoing basis?  I'm not talking about your plan now, but I'm talking about you as gas planners responsible for sort of maintaining an appropriate portfolio going forward.  Do you actually -- have you used -- have you used any of those credits that you've accumulated to purchase interruptible gas for your own purposes -- sorry, not interruptible.  Interruptible transportation.

MS. EVERS:  Mr. Brett, if I may, at Exhibit J.C-4-7 --


MR. BRETT:  Could you speak up, please, a little louder?

MS. EVERS:  At Exhibit J.C-4-7-10.

MR. BRETT:  That's the next one?

MS. EVERS:  Page 2.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That's the one you were discussing with Mr. -- with Dwayne at some length, right?  Page 2, yes.

MS. EVERS:  To the extent that Union needs to use IT transportation to balance our portfolio on an operational or daily basis, any RAM credits that are available will be used to offset the cost of that IT transport, and that's noted at the second paragraph.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, that is noted where?

MS. EVERS:  The second paragraph of page 2 of 3.

MR. BRETT:  Actually, that was the paragraph that led me to these questions.

So I guess what I'm really asking is:  Have you done that, and how much IT have you purchased over time pursuant to that paragraph?

MS. EVERS:  I'm not sure how much IT volume we've purchased, but we have offset all of our IT transport with RAM credits that were available.

MR. BRETT:  So you've used, in other words, some of the -- some of the RAM credits -- let's put it at a high level, but to keep it simple for a simple guy like me.

Insofar as you've kept -- insofar as you haven't assigned away RAM credits when you assign your own transportation capacity, which you discussed with Mr. Quinn -- and I will come back to that, but insofar as you have not done that, you've got some left.  Union holds some.

And what you're telling me now is you've used those credits to effectively pay for the interruptible transportation that you required as Union for operational purposes; right?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And could you perhaps tell me what -- this may be in a previous undertaking -- sorry, this may be in the previous IR, which I put down a moment ago.

But tell me what the dollar volumes of those -- of that has been over the last four years.  What have you spent in years 2011, 2012, 2010, 2009 on interruptible transportation?

MS. EVERS:  I don't have that information with me.

MR. BRETT:  Could you get that, please?  Could you undertake to provide that?

MR. SMITH:  Just a moment.

MS. HARE:  Ms. Helt, which exhibit number would that be?

MS. HELT:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure that --


MR. SMITH:  I am just reflecting on the request.  Maybe we should just ask, before I say yes or no, how readily available the information is.

MS. EVERS:  It's very accessible.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  We will do it.

MR. BRETT:  All right, thank you.

MS. HELT:  Just to be clear, then, you're asking for how much has been spent for the years 2009 through to 2012 for interruptible transportation?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, using the RAM credits, using the FT RAM credits.

MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be J3.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  TO PROVIDE HOW MUCH SPENT FOR 2009 TO 2012 FOR INTERRUPTIBLE TRANSPORTATION USING FT RAM CREDITS.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. EVERS:  Just so I'm clear, that was IT transport for use by the utility for operational purposes?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.  I'm sorry, I think it's a very clear, easily understood question, but I probably mashed it up a little bit.  It's the IT that you buy for your own purposes that you pay for with FT RAM credits.  That's all I'm talking about here.

MS. EVERS:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  I believe that that may have been given under 3.4.  I think we're up to 3.5.

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, just to clarify, the way that you answered the question, is there any other type of situation where you're in fact using a RAM credit to offset interruptible and it's not for the utility's purposes?

MS. EVERS:  That would be more relevant for the panel 3.  They do use interruptible services, but that wouldn't be for the utility gas supply purposes.

MS. TAYLOR:  Just before we leave this point, the schedule that described the RAM credits and what they could be used for, earlier we discussed whether the storage and transportation service, the STS, was severable from the firm service contract.

You said they were not, but to the extent that the RAM credit is severable when you sell it and you are entitled, then, to use the RAM credit to offset other STS storage, so then you do have an ability to separate those features, do you not?

MS. HODGSON:  The RAM credit is not severable from the capacity.  When it is assigned away, the RAM credits go with that assignment.

MS. TAYLOR:  So that clarifies it, because Mr. Brett did ask you that and you did imply they were, in fact, severable.

MR. BRETT:  I think, as I understood it -- thank you, Ms. Taylor, for that.

As I understood it, you either -- you have talked with Mr. Quinn and you outline here in this C.4-7-10 an array of circumstances under which you convey -- as you say, you release pipe or you assign the TransCanada capacity; correct?

Now, we'll come back to that.  But I think the simple point that I was trying to drive at was there's only two things conceptually you do with these credits.

You either assign them away as a deal where you assigned FT capacity, right?  That's number one?  They follow the FT capacity?

MS. HODGSON:  They follow the FT.  That's a good way to describe it, yes.

MR. BRETT:  I mean, I'm being very simple here.  I'm trying to just drive this down to its basics.

If you don't assign them away, you use them yourself in the method that you have described, in the manner that you described, to acquire your own IT transport for whatever purposes you may wish to have it, right?

MS. HODGSON:  They're available for use, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  Can I just ask a follow-up on that?

Do you purchase more IT service than the RAM credit amount?

MS. EVERS:  I believe that the RAM credits, not to say that you can't, but we -- for the utility, I believe the IT transport that we purchased has been offset by --


MS. HARE:  Completely, by the RAM credits?

MS. EVERS:  Completely.  The minimum charge that is applicable to the IT under the TCPL toll schedule.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  This, I don't know that this is -- well, let's continue on with the nitty-gritty part of this for the moment, then I will sort of step back.

But could you turn up, again, turn back to this J.C-4-7-10 that you were discussing with Mr. Quinn, okay?

Page 2 of 3?  Do you all have that?

Okay.  I want to look at these paragraphs sequentially.  I don't want to repeat what Mr. Quinn said, but there is one or two little areas that I would like to just turn over here.

In the first example that you gave, when balancing supply -- I'm in paragraph 1 now -- Union periodically has excess TPL capacity that Union releases into the market.

And just first of all, a matter of terminology.  When you speak of releasing capacity into the market, you speak of assignment.  I speak of those two things.  We're talking about the same thing, right?  Assignment equals release of capacity in this discussion, for purposes of this discussion?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  So if you -- I think the first point I would like to understand is would you confirm -- if you assign, in this circumstance in paragraph 1, if you assign capacity to a third party because you don't require it, automatically the entitlement to acquire the FT RAM credits go to that third party; correct?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And of course then he's bound by the same provisions that you were.  He's bound by the provisions of the FT RAM.  He has to use it the same month and so on and so forth.  It is just --


MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  But he has those rights now and you do not; you have assigned those away.

But what he gets is he gets two things.  He gets the capacity, plus he gets the ability -- this is the third party -- he gets the ability to -- he gets the credits.

And you've said here in your second sentence:

"Union sees higher value for that capacity due to the RAM feature."

And I take it what that means is that the compensation that you get from the third party by transferring, by assigning that capacity to him, since that capacity carries the RAM credits with it, it's more valuable to him, and therefore your compensation presumably will reflect that; is that fair?

MS. EVERS:  We believe that the party does see value in the RAM credits that are a feature of the firm pipe, and that they pay a higher value for that, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  As you say, they're a feature of the firm pipe.

Now, the next sentence you say:

"All proceeds from that released capacity, including those higher proceeds earned as a result of the RAM Program..."

I will just call that the RAM premium, quote-unquote, for purposes of this discussion.
"...are returned directly to system customers to offset unabsorbed demand charges."

So you may have discussed this and I may have missed this point, but how are -- and I think this -- maybe this is partly covered by your undertaking, but leave aside all those caveats.  How exactly are these proceeds returned to the system customers?  How does that happen?

You get the money, and that money goes where?

MS. EVERS:  So if I can just be clear, when pipe is un-utilized by the utility because we have excess supply, we don't need to fill all of the pipe, we will instruct S&T to release that pipe to the market, and if the un-utilized pipe is TCPL, then the RAM feature is released or assigned, as we've said, with that pipe.

To the extent that we realize value for that pipe --


MR. BRETT:  You would get money, right?  Yes.

MS. EVERS:  We would realize value from the marketplace, and there may be a premium because of the RAM credits that are a feature of that pipe.

Any revenue that we generate goes to offset UDC costs to the benefit of the ratepayer.

MR. BRETT:  So it goes into a UDC account of some sort?   A deferral account or an account that I don't have the knowledge of, but I'm sure Mr. Thompson will.

Okay.  Now, then if I go down to the second paragraph, prior to November 7th, Union used the –- just give me a second here.  I have pages of this material, and most of it is not going to be asked.

On the second paragraph, Union used the RAM program directly:

"Prior to November 2007, Union used the RAM program primarily to fund a base minimum level of IT transportation to manage LBA fees in the northern delivery area."

Now, I'm sorry, I didn't pick up clearly the LBA fee; what was that you are funding?

MS. EVERS:  The LBA charges are limited balancing agreement with TCPL to balance in our delivery areas.  And to the extent that we use IT to balance on an operational basis, that reduces the LBA fees that would be charged by TCPL.

And in that case, to the extent that we're flowing interruptible transport, that's where we would use any available RAM credits to offset the cost of that interruptible transport --


MR. BRETT:  So effectively, you're using it in that case as a way to reduce these LBA fees, which I take it are part of the cost of service; is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  And you say here you expect this base level of IT to continue regardless of the RAM.

So what you're saying there is that you're going to always buy enough IT to -- this is getting back to what we talked about a moment ago.

One of the operational purposes for which you buy IT, with or without RAM, is that you need to have some to do this LBA balancing; is that correct?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  It's the most effective way to do that.  Okay.  Well, that disposes of that.

Now, then the third piece here:

"Starting in 2007, Union realized benefits of the RAM program when optimizing its transportation portfolio."

Now, this is where we got into the lengthy discussions earlier this morning.

Union began to -- in your case, you characterize this as you don't have UDC.  You have gas -- this is where you, I guess, you and your S&T colleagues effectively create an opportunity by finding a party to assign -- to assign FT capacity to, along with which will flow the RAM credits that he can use in some sort of a transaction, and that is -- is that right?

In other words, this is not something driven by UDC; this is something driven by -- this is an economic opportunity for the utility that drives this?

MS. EVERS:  This is S&T using our --


MR. BRETT:  S&T are coming to you saying, Do you think we could have some transportation here?  We think we see an opportunity to do a deal somewhere.

MS. EVERS:  The specific mechanics of how that works would be best described by panel 3.

MR. BRETT:  Oh, I'm sure that would be the case.  I was just sort of trying to get a little gas supply gloss on this.

And so, as you said here, since Union continues to purchase supply at Empress, alternative arrangements are required to deliver these supplies to Union's market area once the capacity was assigned away.

So, in this case -- in this case you're not going to have those credits in your bag to buy interruptible transportation to bring that gas down from Empress; correct?

MS. EVERS:  As we described earlier, we're continuing to buy the gas at Empress.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I understand that, but it's sitting at Empress.

MS. EVERS:  And it is being delivered to where we need it to serve our in-franchise customers through another means, but ratepayers are paying for that firm transport.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, they are.  They continue to pay for the firm transport, yes.  All right.  Well, I won't go any further on that, because Mr. Quinn covered that aspect of differential prices, and the like.

Sorry, just give me a moment here.

Now, this IR response says at the bottom it does not include any capacity assignments to Union's -- is that meant to be -- oh, to Union's in-franchise customers, okay.  I'm sorry.

Now, just as a sidebar, as you know -- you're aware, I take it, you folks, that TCPL is proposing to eliminate the FT RAM in the current National Energy Board 2013 TransCanada tolls case; right?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. BRETT:  And you're also aware that Union as a group, as part of a group of eastern shippers, is arguing that the FT RAM should -- or its position in its evidence is that the FT RAM should be maintained; right?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Are you also aware that in TCPL's evidence -- and if you're not, just tell me, but are you also aware that in TCPL's main evidence, section 8 of its evidence where it talks about -- discusses FT RAM in some considerable detail, that it basically makes the point that the people that are using FT RAM today, that are using it in the sense of using it to contract for interruptible service on TransCanada, are very different than the people that originally held the FT transportation?  Are you aware of that?

MS. HODGSON:  No.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  That might be -- that might be a panel 3 issue, or it might be an issue I could ask the TransCanada witness, I suppose.

MR. SHORTS:  We are not familiar with that portion of their evidence.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  You don't get into that depth, but... Okay.

Now, I have -- I wonder if I could ask, Mr. Buonaguro, could you put up J.D-14-7-6, please?  That is J.D, D as in Diane, 14-7-6.

And the question there is -- Union discusses principles.  This is TCPL's question to you:
"Does Union consider the total impact on all Union customers and/or on all Ontario customers resulting from the acquisition of new sources of supply and adding new infrastructure including the effect on the tolls that Union pays to TransCanada? If not, why not? If so, please provide all the analysis that has been done in this regard in the past 10 years when accessing new sources of supply."


Now, can you turn up page -- so, sorry.  So you answered the question.  You go through your five principles that you talked about, and then you go on, and I would like you to put up the second page, please.

And if we look at the second paragraph there, you say this:
"Union does not take into account the extent to which the action it takes on behalf of its customers in one delivery area impacts other customers either inside or outside of its service territory."


Now, when you say "other customers", you haven't really defined this very well.  Well, I shouldn't say that.  I apologize for that.

When you say "other customers", do you include in that other Union customers?

MR. SHORTS:  Mr. Brett, what we do is we would look at the current tolls in place when we make that purchasing decision, because those are the only tolls that we are aware of.  And, as a gas supply group, we don't speculate on what future tolls may hold.

When we actually - excuse me - take an action that would potentially save some money to one of the rate zones or one of the delivery zones in Union north, those costs would get, to a certain degree, spread to other northern customers.  The mechanics of that really are for the rate design panel.

But it was really focussed to mean that we would not necessarily take into account the implications to other customers outside of Union's service territory, much in the same way that we certainly did not take into account what Alliance customers' impact would be of when we decided to not have Alliance pipeline.  And I would suggest that other -- other entities do not do those types of analysis either.

MR. BRETT:  When you say Union service territory, do you mean Union's north service territory?  In other words, would you take into account the impacts on customers in other Union zones or areas?

MR. SHORTS:  We would do the analysis based on the existing tolls.

MR. BRETT:  I think we're missing one another.  Let me be more blunt.

The way I read this sentence, it says to me that you might take steps that would affect the costs of Union customers in a particular Union area or Union zone -- and I won't ask you to outline all of the areas and the zones.  I think we've all got a better or worse idea of what those are.  I don't need that for purposes of this analysis.

But I read this to say even if it had an adverse impact on other Union customers in other areas or zones.  Is that what this is meant to say, or is this meant to say, We optimize for Union; we're not responsible for customers of Alliance or Enbridge or anybody else.

I just want to make sure I understand which of those you are saying.  If you're saying the latter, I have no problem with it.  If you're saying the former, it is an extraordinary statement.

MR. SHORTS:  But, Mr. Brett, just to be clear, when we take an action in a particular zone - so we potentially would de-contract an eastern or a northern contract - we would not know what the implications would be, first and foremost, on the rates in the other zones.

We don't know what other activity is being -- is going on say, for example, with TransCanada that would impact the other rates.  So we have no way, really, of knowing what those impacts would be to all other customers.

MR. BRETT:  Well, let me ask you this.  Should you not have a way?  It seems to me an incredible proposition that you would take steps that would affect a group of customers in part of the Union franchise, and then come here and say, Well, you know, how can we know what's happening down east?  We don't know what's going on down there.

That's, I would have thought, management's job to know what's happening all over.

MR. SHORTS:  As I mentioned before, Mr. Brett, the mechanics of how that is done will actually dampen any impact, both spread the benefit and spread a cost out.  So it will dampen any impact, and really it is the impact to customers outside of Union's responsibility.

MR. BRETT:  But you make no -- it sounds like there would be dampening, but you make no explicit -- there's no explicit way, there is no mechanism within your overall management system insofar as it relates to gas transportation choices and decisions and gas supply decisions that ensure that the consequences to the entire company are taken into effect, not just the consequences to the people in that particular area.

I think that's what you're saying.

MR. SHORTS:  If we knew exactly what the consequences would be, we would take those into account to our own customers.

But the issue is we just do not have a reliable way to understand what those total impacts are going to be.

MR. BRETT:  Obviously.  Okay.

The just one or two clean-up questions.  Am I in time or am I over now?

MS. HARE:  No, you have five minutes.

MR. BRETT:  Five minutes?

MS. HARE:  Yes, because we would like to take our lunch break at 1:00 o'clock, and that would take you to the --


MR. BRETT:  Well, then, I am fine, because I am into the -- I have rounded third, so to speak.

Okay.  Now, you talked about a gas supply plan and you made this -- in your evidence, you speak of a five-year gas supply plan, and then you go on to say that -- you outline the assumptions and the principles under which -- that apply to that plan.

Do you recall that, in your evidence-in-chief?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Now, is there an actual document somewhere in Union that says -- that is a five-year gas supply plan that you revise each year?  Does that document exist?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, the outcome of the plan is in the gas purchase expense schedules that have been filed.

So that shows the costs to serve Union's customers, based on the gas plan.

MR. BRETT:  So what you –- yeah.  Okay.  I think I understand that.

What you show us is the -- is the transportation cost, total cost of transportation, and you list the transportation contracts and you list at a very high level the -- unlike what you used to do, but you list at a very high level the supply arrangements.

But there's -- but that's different than a plan.  A plan usually is some sort of a written document that lays out your strategies and how you're going to proceed over the next five years to achieve the goals that you state in your five principles.

Are you telling me you don't have such a document?

MR. QUIGLEY:  There's not a written –- like, the preamble of the evidence, D1, tab 1, is the written plan for 2013, which is part of the five-year plan.

The gas purchase expense schedules list all of the costs that have come out of that plan.

I'm not -- I'm -- I'm struggling a bit with what exactly you're asking for.

MR. BRETT:  Well, really, I'm saying that you've identified something called a five-year plan.  You then go on to talk about what you're going to do in the test year, which is the first year in a five-year period.  You make a general statement about, Well, the first two years are the most important, and the other three years sort of follow on the first two years.  Period.

I mean, there is no discussion of a five-year time horizon and how it might change.  I mean, what developments are happening, what things are happening out on the marketplace that might, you know, change your -- the proportions of the gas, for example, that you have delivered into Ontario.

In another table in your evidence, you talk about the amounts of gas delivered to Ontario increasing quite substantially, as an example, over the years to 2017, but there is no text to explain that or why that's happening.

So I guess my question is -- I don't think you have a five -- I mean, I'm asking whether you have anything more than what you've set out here, I guess.

I guess you're telling me:  No, we don't.  That that's what we have.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, I would suggest -- I believe Exhibit E2 lays out the market dynamics that Union is operating in.

The test year is actually year 3 of the plan.  In this case, 2011 is year 1, 2012 is year 2 and 2013 is year 3.

MR. BRETT:  So there's not -- I think you're telling me you don't have a plan that you could file with us, with the Board?  I was going to ask you to file a plan.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, the gas purchase expense schedules are the outcome of the plan.

So that tells you the cost, the volumes that were flowing in the test year, the costs to serve the customers.

So I'm not sure -- I'm struggling a bit with...


MR. BRETT:  Well, I think there is not much more we could say at this stage.

And I think that those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will break -- oh, Ms. Taylor?

MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, if you don't have a plan, how do you know that you're in year 3 of it?

Like, honestly, you must have a plan, a document that says back two years hence ago, you had a strategy for procuring gas and transportation over the next five years, if that is your defined framework.  You are now in year 3 of it.

I'm assuming you have some benchmark document that says:  I'm 60 percent of plan or 70 percent, and this is why my procurement strategy is or is not working.  It is working great in this other area.

I'm sorry, I just didn't find the answer that you don't have a document that you're managing to credible.

MR. QUIGLEY:  Well, we have a volumetric plan that we're managing to on an annual basis.

And you know, at a high level, in Exhibit -- just give me one second here.

MR. SMITH:  Well, why don't we just -- why don't we just reflect on it over the lunch hour?

I am sure there is something that -- there must be, whether it is Excel spreadsheets or whatever it is, there is probably something.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  There's back-up.

MS. TAYLOR:  Point out to me, and I will go find it again.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I think -- I mean, you have the output.  The implication of that is there is an input schedule.

MS. TAYLOR:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And a detail output.  So we will see what we can find.

MS. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  We will break until 2:00 o'clock.

When we come back at two o'clock, we will hear submissions on the letter, Mr. Thompson, that you sent in about the evidence that you would like withdrawn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:02 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:11 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  The Board has considered the issue of the undertaking request -- oh, I'm sorry, I took my glasses off.  Now I can't see.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  Well, the only reason I -- this may change nothing, but we did have an opportunity -- given the request was to rerun the gas supply plan, I wanted to -- I thought it might be helpful to tell you what we've been able to learn about the gas supply plan, and that may or may not have any bearing on the decision.


But the gas supply plan, as I understand it, is not so much a written document.  It is two Excel spreadsheets.


MS. HARE:  You're responding to Ms. Taylor's question at the end?


MR. SMITH:  That's right.  But the undertaking request, as I understand it, is to essentially run -- rerun the gas supply plan, which will give you some sense of why the timing is such.  So, anyway, the gas supply plan is two spreadsheets, totalling approximately 60 tabs and 42,000 lines of information.


We're prepared to make it available.  Monthly there is an update that -- as I understand it, not so much of the plan, but of utilization.  We can make those available, too.


So there is -- that's why I say there is a good deal of information.  We're prepared to make it available in response to the request.  Have I got that right, Mr. Quigley?


MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. TAYLOR:  You don't have a summary?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is only 42,000 lines of text?


MR. QUIQLEY:  We tried to squeeze another one in, but it wouldn't fit.


MS. HARE:  The highlights of it are in the evidence; is that correct?


MR. SMITH:  The output, yes.


MS. TAYLOR:  That's sufficient.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  All right.  So we have considered the issue of the undertaking request, and we've concluded that we will not compel Union to provide a response to the undertaking.


The Board has little interest in hypothetical constructs.  The key assumption underlying the request is that the purchase of all of the transportation for the eastern delivery area would be a short-term transportation, which we believe is not realistic.


And, therefore, the outcome of the analysis would be of little evidentiary value.


MR. QUINN:  If I may speak to that?  I accept the decision, and --


MS. HARE:  That's good.


MR. QUINN:  -- I was not asking for all to be short term.  I thought some could be layered in, but I understand from the explanation of the gas supply plan that it's not going to be delivered.  We will be challenged, I guess, to provide any other alternative to their current planning in the evidence, and I will have to accept that.


MS. HARE:  And you can of course in your submissions argue for a change in the mix.  That would be up to you.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Thompson, then, would you speak to the letter that you wrote concerning the evidence that you would like withdrawn as part of the interrogatory response?
ADMISSIBILITY OF PORTIONS OF JT1.55
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you for allowing me this opportunity to speak to the matter.


What you will need to follow this is the letter that I sent on July 9th, which has attached to it the initial letter that I sent to Union June 22nd, Mr. Smith's response, and then my letter to the Board.


The second thing you will need available is the response to JT1.55 and its attachments.  That's the evidence that I am concerned about.


Then, finally, if you would have it at hand, it is Mr. Aiken's compendium, K1.1, and I wanted to the excerpt from the Board's cost of capital report, which is at page 12 of 16 of that material.


So if I might just start with the June 22 letter, which is attached to my July 9 letter, this was written -- you can see from the last paragraph of the letter that we were hoping to be able to persuade Union to withdraw this information without having to trouble the Board with our concern.


Mr. Smith responded to that the day before the hearing commenced, and then we sent our letter to the Board.


The starting point of our concern is the provision of article 4.3 in the settlement agreement.  That's the 0520 settlement agreement.  It's quoted in the letter.  I would ask Mr. Buonaguro if he could put the complete proviso up on the screen.  He had it up there at one point, and maybe it will come back in a moment.


Effectively, the language of the agreement, which I submit is quite clear, is that Union agreed that it would not use the after-tax weighted average cost of capital methodology to support any changes it proposes to the -- to its capital structure.


And that agreement was made, as is clear from the attachments to the undertaking response, in the context of the evidence of Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert and Mr. Carpenter.  You will see that was 0520 evidence.


So what is the ATWACC methodology?  I shudder when I make these submissions with Ms. Taylor sitting up there, but, anyway, here it goes.


My understanding of it is that the method proceeds from the premise that there's an unbreakable link or unseverable link between the cost of equity and equity ratio, and you can find that expressed, I submit, at page 16 of Dr. Kolbe's material.  That is the first attachment to the undertaking response.


Starting at line 8, what he says is:

"Capital structure and the cost of equity are unbreakably linked, and any effort to treat the two as separate and distinct questions violates both everyday experience (e.g., with home mortgages) and basic financial principles."


So that's the concept upon which ATWACC is based.


The ATWACC methodology, which is referenced at page 18 of the material, is derived and treated as a constant, and you will see reference to that at pages 9 to 15 in the Kolbe material.  Dr. Kolbe provides the theory, and then Dr. Vilbert provided the analysis to apply the concept.


I would like to now just draw your attention, if I might, to page 3 of Dr. Vilbert's evidence.  This is tab 3 of the material that is attached to the undertaking response.  In answer 5 of his testimony, he says as follows:

"The traditional approach to estimating the required return for a regulated utility focuses on the individual components of a company's overall cost of capital. In particular, decisions regarding the 'right' cost of equity and capital structure may be made separately, without specific consideration of the impact of one decision on the other components. As Dr. Kolbe explains in his written evidence, this could lead to a mistake in the relationship between the allowed return on equity and the regulatory capital structure. I avoid this problem by estimating the sample companies' overall after-tax weighted-average cost of capital ('ATWACC'). Note that the weights in the ATWACC calculation are the market values of debt, preferred equity and common equity in the sample company's capital structure not the book value amounts.  Market value is the value of a company's securities (debt and equity) as traded in capital markets.  The calculation of the market values of the individual components is discussed below in Section IV-A.2.  Using the sample average ATWACC, I then calculated the deemed equity component that is consistent with a particular return on equity.  This procedure avoids the potential inconsistency between the allowed return on equity and the regulatory capital structure."

So he applies the concept, and then together, Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert, applying the methodology, come up with the range of equity ratios that is specified in the undertaking response in the last sentence, the 40 and 56 percent.

Now, Dr. Carpenter's evidence is at tab 2.  It does not provide any equity ratio percentage opinion.  All it does is analyze Union's risks as of January 2006, compared to what they were in the past.

And that is clear from the evidence of Dr. Kolbe at page 2 and the top of page 3.  He talks about the three pieces of evidence from himself, Dr. Carpenter and Dr. Vilbert.  Then on page 3, he's asked:

"Please summarize how the three pieces of evidence relate to one another."

Then he goes on:
"The written evidence of A. Lawrence Kolbe provides Brattle's recommendations for Union's deemed common equity ratio.  These recommendations are based on economic risk-reward principles..."

And so on.  Then he goes on to talk about the evidence of Carpenter as analyzing Union's risk.  It speaks to risk only.  The opinions with respect to the range of equity ratios are those of Dr. Kolbe and Dr. Vilbert only.


So coming back to the undertaking -- and they stem from an application of the ATWACC methodology.  I think that would be beyond dispute.

So coming back to the undertaking response, my submission is that the last paragraph, the last sentence in the last paragraph of that undertaking response clearly stems from an application of the ATWACC methodology.  And similarly, the evidence of Dr. Kolbe and Vilbert relates to an application of the ATWACC methodology.

So I submit Union is relying on an application of the ATWACC methodology to support its response to this undertaking, and this response is in support of the position that its equity ratio in this case should be changed.

And that, I submit, contravenes the provisions of the settlement agreement.

The last point I want to make on this is that in the Board's cost of capital report that I mentioned, at page 12 of 16 of the -- of Mr. Aiken's compendium, the Board's capital structure policy is stated, and I won't read it.

It is, in my submission, clearly the traditional capital structure policy.

So for those reasons, I am asking that the material that I've described in the letter be ruled inadmissible.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Mr. Thompson, you made, in starting your comments, a comment about speaking in front of Ms. Taylor.  I assume what you meant by that is that she is an expert in cost of capital, and you weren't implying in any way that she's predisposed to ATWACC or any other methodology?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  Sorry.  No, if I left that impression, I apologize.  I was really trying to recognize Ms. Taylor's expertise as compared to my own in this particular area.  That is all I was implying.

So if I offended anybody, I --


MS. HARE:  We're just very sensitive.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- sincerely apologize.  Well, so am I.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith?
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I have just -- if it may be of assistance, I just prepared just a very brief collection of documents that may of assistance to the Board.

In my submission, overall, we're having a fight that doesn't -- that doesn't really exist.  Nobody is challenging the settlement agreement or proposing to rely on ATWACC, and that was what I had tried to capture in my letter.

Because, as Mr. Thompson indicates, his letter of July -- June 22 was put on the basis that there was this problem with JT1.55 in reconciling with that with the settlement agreement at paragraph 4.3.

We say in the letter that Union wasn't proposing to rely on ATWACC in this proceeding.  You will not find it referred to in Union's prefiled evidence for answers to interrogatories at all.

This arose at the technical conference, and at the technical conference Union was asked by reference to Dr. Carpenter of the Brattle Group to confirm Union's business and financial risk.  And in response to that, Union filed the evidence of the Brattle Group.

And the reason for that is there is not the bright-line distinction in the evidence that my friend has attempted to describe.

There is no question that Dr. Carpenter's evidence deals with Union's business risk, and there is also no objection in my friend's submission to the inclusion of Dr. Carpenter's evidence.

The only -- the only objection, as I understand it, is to Dr. Vilbert and Dr. Kolbe's evidence, but if you have my materials, you will see several pages in an excerpt from Dr. Kolbe's evidence.

And if you turn over several pages, beginning at the bottom of page 7 -- and then what is bottom of page 7 -- or maybe the easiest spot to look at it is page 24.  Question 21, if you have that, has noted at the outset of my evidence:

"I base my conclusions on Dr. Carpenter's evidence on risk and Dr. Vilbert's evidence on the risk-return information from benchmark sample groups."

This is the important part.  He goes on to say:
"I also rely on my own experience in assessing risk and return for dozens of lines of business, regulated and unregulated alike, in North American, Australia and Europe.  This section reports on my analysis of this evidence in order to determine Union's deemed equity ratio."

And he goes over at the next page, on page 25, and he makes some comments at the bottom of page 25 in answer to question 24, based on his own experience.  In other words, he's supplementing Dr. Carpenter's evidence with respect to business and financial risk.

And that is equally true of Dr. Vilbert's evidence, because if you look at Dr. Vilbert's evidence -- which is rather lengthy, but the easiest place to see this is B2.  It is appendix B-2, so at the bottom, you will see "B-2."  And he talks about what he does in his approach.

But one of the things that Dr. Vilbert did was collect a sample of companies whose business -- whose primary risk is as a regulated utility, with business risks generally similar to that of the company.

And he then goes on to prepare that and discuss why those risks are similar, including by reference to the portion of their business that is regulated, to the amount of storage they undertake, and he looks at both the Canadian and US sample.  All of which is an assessment of Union's relative business and financial risks, which is no different, in that respect, than the evidence that we have before you in this proceeding -- to which there is no objection -- in relation to cost of capital.

So, in my submission, we're not looking to rely on ATWACC, but it is not possible, the way the Brattle Group organized their evidence, to draw whatever lines want to be drawn.  In effect, CME is saying, We don't object to Carpenter's evidence, but we would rather you didn't look at Kolbe and Vilbert's evidence.  They comment on this, as well.

So, in my submission, it is not open -- having asked the question, Union has to provide a complete response, the way it does to every undertaking and interrogatory that it gets asked.

And in that basis, I think that the evidence should stand.  To the extent my friend has a concern about the final paragraph of the undertaking, which refers to the Brattle Group's opinion with respect to the appropriate deemed equity level, we could remove that, I suppose, I mean, but I -- we're not relying on ATWACC.  It is just not possible to draw this distinction.

I would say, if you have Dr. Booth's evidence at hand, the absolute fine line that is being drawn by my friend is violated, to a certain extent, even in Dr. Booth's evidence, and I can read to you -- and I will just give you the reference.

In Dr. Booth's evidence at page 2 of his executive summary, Dr. Booth says in the second-last bullet:
"Overall I would recommend that Union be allowed a 35% common equity ratio and the Board's formula ROE without any premium.  I have not entered ROE testimony since the Board will review its formula ROE in 2014, but I would comment that currently Board-allowed ROEs are at the very top of, if not exceeding, the range of a fair and reasonable ROE for a low risk Canadian utility like Union Gas."


The clear implication of that statement is, given their ROE and equity thickness of 35 percent, it is more than reasonable and that's what they should be awarded.

So I don't think it is possible to draw exactly the distinction that my friend is trying to draw, with respect.

Thank you.  Those are my submissions.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Smith -- sorry, did you want to reply, Mr. Thompson?  I just wonder if you wanted to have this mark as an exhibit.  I appreciate the documents have been filed already, but perhaps it would be easier to mark it as an exhibit.

MR. SMITH:  If it is administratively easier, certainly.

MS. HELT:  Then we will mark this as Exhibit K3.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.4:  Union Motion BRIEF OF DOCUMENTS

MS. HARE:  Before you start, Mr. Thompson, I was actually remiss in not asking if other parties have any comments, and I should have done that before Union Gas.  But if everybody says no, then I'm okay.

[Laughter]

MS. HARE:  Okay, Mr. Thompson.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Just on exhibit marking, I suppose we should give our letter of July 9th and its attachments a number.

MR. SMITH:  It is part of my package, I believe, Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It's all there?

MR. SMITH:  It's all there.

MS. HELT:  Your letter of July 9th with the June 22nd letter.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am not happy being part of Mr. Smith's package.

[Laughter]

MR. THOMPSON:  I only have two comments.  First of all, I submit it is not a fair reading of the evidence as a whole to conclude that Dr. Kolbe's evidence is supplementing Dr. Carpenter's evidence.

I think, in fairness, it is the reverse.  Dr. Carpenter's evidence was a risk analysis feed-in to the application by Drs. Kolbe and Vilbert of the ATWACC methodology.

As I said the other day, I don't want to make a big deal of this, but I would say this.  If the shoe were on the other foot and we were trying to do this, we would be roundly chastised for having not complied with the spirit of the settlement agreement.  And so, with that, I await your ruling.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will come back -- we will take five minutes now.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

--- Recess taken at 2:36 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:43 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.
RULING ON ADMISSIBILITY OF PORTIONS OF JT1.55

The Board does not require the evidence with respect to ATWACC to be struck from the record.  It was filed in response to an undertaking request, and we've heard that Union is not proposing this methodology, in any event, thus preserving the integrity of the settlement agreement.

The Board will consider the evidence only to the extent that it addresses directly the question for which the undertaking, JT1.55, was provided.  That is, the Board will consider the evidence as it pertains to the relative business risk of the company or its evolution, and for no other reason or purpose.

So we will now proceed with cross-examining the gas supply panel.  And I believe, Mr. Cameron, you're next?

Or Mr. Buonaguro, you would like to go next?

MR. CAMERON:  We did a trade, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have five minutes or so, just to follow up.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  We're going to do it now so I don't have to come on Monday, because somebody else is coming in Monday, just in case, in case this panel moves over.  Thank you.

Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to take you quickly to J.C-4-7-10, which you have gone over a couple of times.

I have one clarification question on this.  This is page 2 of 3, J.C-4-7-10.

I'm going to blow up the third paragraph.  I am interested in this sentence here that says:
"Union began to assign various long-haul firm transportation assets on a monthly, seasonal and annual basis in order to realize some of the value the market placed on TCPL pipe as a result of the RAM program."

With respect to this sentence, am I correct that with respect to assigning a long-haul firm transportation asset on an annual basis, are you taking the -- some of your firm transportation or FT contracts -- which you talked about -- and before the year even begins, assigning that contract for the entire year, so it is not available for in-franchise customers?  Is that what that means?

MS. HODGSON:  Not for in-franchise customers.

That question, in terms of the mechanics of how we would generate revenue from a S&T perspective, would be an appropriate question for the next panel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, no.  What I mean is, you're talking -- you talked about the long-term contracts?

MS. HODGSON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And one of reasons that you want to maintain them is that they are renewable into the year, so you basically hold them in perpetuity until you fill the renewal?

MS. HODGSON:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is this sentence says that for some of those contracts, at the beginning of the year you assign them, and for that year, at least -- if you are doing it on an annual basis -- for that year, the transportation underpinning that contract wouldn't be available for your use, for gas supply purposes; is that how I should understand that?

MS. EVERS:  I think that is a correct assumption, but I would also point to the last sentence where we say that we continue to purchase our supply as if those transport contracts were in place, and alternative arrangements are made to bring that supply to where we need it from a supply perspective.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand you contracted for the firm transportation on the annual contract, but then you assigned it to somebody else and you have to replace it.  I think that is what that third sentence says, right?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that means, if I go over the page -- and again, we will stick to the eastern zone as the example -- and you have here all of the capacity assignments throughout the period that's shown in attachment 1 to J.C-4-7-10.  My understanding is that -- we'll take June, the summer of -- June 2011 as an example.  For the Empress eastern zone, you have 110,000 of capacity assignments.  Do you see that?

MS. EVERS:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So my understanding is that some of that capacity assignment would have been done on a monthly basis, some of it would have been done on a seasonal basis, and some of it may have been done on an annual basis; is that right?

MS. EVERS:  Based on the way the interrogatory was answered, I would suggest that's correct.  How much is applicable to each, we would not be able to answer that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Really?

MS. EVERS:  That would be panel 3, the S&T or ex-franchise panel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So just in the context of the annual, of an annual capacity assignment, you're saying that -- as the gas planning panel -- you would have entered into an annual contract, say, for 2011, and somebody else at the company assigns that contract for the year and you don't have anything to do with that?

MS. EVERS:  I just don't have the specific details as to how much is within each category.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I go to the next panel and ask them this question, to break out this whole table based on seasonal, monthly and annual, they would be able to do it?

MS. EVERS:  They would be in a better position than we are, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I could ask the undertaking now and you could hand it over to the next panel?

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  We will have them ginned up to answer the question.

[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  I don't really know if it needs an undertaking, or -- they have been pre-warned that you are going to ask it.  Do we really need --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Then it will be ready when --


MS. HARE:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just for follow-up.

MS. HARE:  That would be good, yes.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO QUANTIFY CAPACITY ASSIGNMENTS DONE ON A MONTHLY BASIS, A SEASONAL BASIS, AND AN ANNUAL BASIS.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then lastly, I am going to pull up -- you will recall -- I don't know the exhibit for this.

This is the TransCanada Pipelines Limited reference, the interrogatory that they answered for APPrO in the RH-003-2011...

MS. HARE:  It's Exhibit K3.1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you very much.  My hands were busy when was that being done.

And one of the undertakings you gave was to reproduce this kind of graph specific to Union.  Do you recall that?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that when you do that, you will have something like the dark green line through your graph, which will represent the firm transportation that you have throughout the period?

MR. QUIGLEY:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, as we just discussed, some of your firm transportation, at least some of your annual contracts for firm transportation, are actually assigned for the whole part of the year; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  We weren't sure which ones would be -- were assigned.  That says the eastern zone, as well, so we don't exactly know where and when those would have been done, or for what term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But as you go into the year, some of your capacity that you planned for by entering into a long-term contract for the year is gone.

So what I would like -- and you can tell me if you can do this -- is the same graph, either -- I don't want to mess up Mr. Quinn's graph, so maybe a duplicate graph, but the green line that I want, the dark green line that I want to see for this period is the one that takes out all of the firm transportation that you contracted out for the year.

And my understanding is that -- if I understand everything correctly -- that means that on my graph the green line, the dark green line, will be much lower, because it will -- all the capacity that that represented will be gone, because it was assigned on the annual basis.

Is that something you can do?

MR. SMITH:  It is.  I think what you're asking for is firm transport net of assignments.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have been specific to the annual assignments, because I can tell you why.  In my mind, that's the one where, even before the year started, you have committed it for the year as opposed to a monthly basis or seasonal basis.

So I am interested primarily in the annual for this purpose.  Okay?

MR. SMITH:  That's what I understood, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  to PROVIDE FIRM TRANSPORT NET OF ASSIGNMENTS IN GRAPHICAL FORM.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Cameron, are you ready?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Cameron:

MR. CAMERON:  If I might begin, ladies and gentlemen, by asking if we can, for completeness and efficiency, supplement the undertaking that you gave to Mr. Brett about your use of RAM credits to acquire interruptible TransCanada transmission, could we add to that what RAM credits Union had during the relevant period, so we have both the figures, what credits were available to Union and what credits Union used?

MR. SMITH:  We can do that.  We've provided it already, so we'll provide the cross-reference in the undertaking.

MS. HELT:  Just for the purpose of the record, that was Undertaking J3.5 that was given to Mr. Brett, I believe.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  And I apologize for not realizing it was already in the record.

And I would suggest another undertaking and it's much like the one that we just discussed, which is really either an undertaking or advance notice to the next panel, which is:   What RAM credits, if any, did S&T use to acquire interruptible transportation on TransCanada; and, secondly, what dollars has S&T spent to acquire interruptible transportation on TransCanada?

MR. SMITH:  We will govern ourselves accordingly and be ready to answer that at panel 3.  I similarly believe that some of the information is already in the record.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, one way or another, as I say, you can treat it as advance notice.  It might make cross-examination more efficient if it's delivered in advance of the appearance of the panel, either by way of information or references to the existing evidence.  I just didn't want to be asking the question next week and have a further --


MS. HARE:  Delay?

MR. CAMERON:  -- delay.  I believe it was you, Ms. Evers, who confirmed, in response to a question from Ms. Taylor, that -- and I just wanted to make sure I understood this correctly -- that Union has not spent any money acquiring interruptible transmission; that is, your gas supply side has not spent any money acquiring interruptible TransCanada transmission.  You have acquired all of that transmission by use of RAM credits?

[Witness panel confers]

MS. EVERS:  I believe we indicated that we didn't acquire IT transport as part of our gas plan.

MS. HARE:  Actually, I asked the question as to whether or not the RAM credits were sufficient for what you were paying for the interruptible, or did you have to pay in addition to the RAM credit, and your answer was that you did not have to pay in addition.

MS. EVERS:  In that context, yes.  Maybe I misunderstood the question, but we did not have to pay an addition for IT, other than the minimum charge that is applicable for IT.

MS. HARE:  The only narrowing was for your own use?

MS. EVERS:  That's correct.

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.

This might be a question for Mr. Shorts, but, generally, panel, as gas supply specialists, you appreciate that your gas transportation choices, as among various routes into your franchise, have impacts on the allocation of the costs of that supply to your various regions of customers?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  The costs of the gas supply plan would then work its way into the cost allocation model and make its way through cost allocation principles and rate design into those various delivery areas.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  Roughly speaking, because I know you're not the cost allocation panel, but of your shippers, south region versus north or perhaps north and east, how is the cost of the TransCanada transportation you acquire allocated -- sorry, the TransCanada long haul transportation allocated?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't have an answer to that.  Offhand, I couldn't even guess at that.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, through cost allocation, if you're using your long haul transportation to serve your western and northern delivery areas and you are using some other transportation to serve your southern areas, is it not at least a generalization you can make that TransCanada long haul transportation is going to end up getting allocated to your northern region?

MR. SHORTS:  All the TransCanada tolls that are subject to the plan would have been included in all of the northern regions.  So they take each one of the resulting - the outcomes of the rate times the volume, and they would have had that allocated through the cost allocation model throughout the north.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, is this really a question for the cost allocation panel?

MR. SMITH:  There is no question about that.

MR. CAMERON:  Ms. Chairman, the reason I premised my question by saying, I assume that as gas supply specialists you are cognizant of the fact that the route you choose has an impact on how various regions of your shippers are affected -- and Mr. Shorts agreed that they were generally aware of that, and then I was trying to get him to agree that, logically speaking, the brunt of the TransCanada long haul transportation is going to be borne by the northern region and not by the southern region.

And I would have thought that as a person responsible for making these gas supply decisions that have these cost allocation implications, despite not being a cost allocation expert, he would at least be sensitive to that issue.

And I trust you are sensitive to that issue, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.  I mean, in the north, we currently have approximately 95 percent of that being served through TransCanada contracts for the northern customers.

So we certainly would expect that the majority of those costs for the long haul -- for the customers in the north are going to be -- the base of them would be TransCanada tolls, but they may not be necessarily long haul.  They could be the STS, et cetera.

MR. CAMERON:  Thank you for that clarification.  That's useful.

And without getting into numbers, I think we can put it this way.  Union has substantially de-contracted TransCanada long haul transportation over the past several years?

MR. SHORTS:  Union has de-contracted a certain amount of capacity over the years.  I believe we've had a number of schedules that have outlined that.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  I just want you to agree with me it is a substantial amount and that it has materially contributed to the increases in TransCanada's long haul tolls?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, how is the question as to whether that has increased TransCanada's long haul tolls evidence for this proceeding as opposed to the National Energy Board proceeding?

MR. CAMERON:  Because it is Union's shippers in the north that pay those tolls.

MR. SHORTS:  It would be all shippers that would pay those tolls, subject to however TransCanada allocates and changes their cost allocation.

MR. CAMERON:  You're saying that your northern Ontario regions are indifferent to the amount of long haul TransCanada transportation that Union holds?

MR. SHORTS:  We need to have long haul capacity to serve the northern region, and those costs as a result of that are put into a large pool, and then the cost allocation people do the rate design, the cost allocation, to effectuate those rates that Union charges to those bundled and system sales customers.

So, for example, you won't find a direct relationship between TransCanada's tolls and Union's delivery tolls to each of the individual zones.  They don't always match.

MR. CAMERON:  They don't always match.  Do they --


MR. SHORTS:  Let me clarify.  They don't match.

MR. CAMERON:  It sounds like I will have to take up the rest of this with the cost allocation panel.  Thank you.

I am going to change my line of questioning, and I don't purport to be educating anybody here about anything, but I am going to be using some very similar sounding terminology and I just want to make sure, as we go through, we understand the distinctions, because there's a St. Clair line on your system, but there's also a St. Clair company that's an affiliate of yours that operates a St. Clair River crossing regulated by the National Energy Board.

And so as I go through this, I will try to refer to the St. Clair River crossing, because it is that that these questions pertain to, but if I confuse you by not being that precise, please feel free to ask me to clarify. 

I will also be asking you about your Bluewater line, and again, there's more than one Bluewater facility in the Union system.  The one I'm talking about is the one that crosses the St. Clair River, and is mentioned in your gas supply portfolio of transportation facilities.

I circulated to your counsel, and you might have been provided a copy of some financial statements.

MR. SMITH:  No guarantees. 

[Laughter]


MR. CAMERON: There is a document called:  "Financial statements of St. Clair Pipelines LP." 

MS. HELT:  We can mark this as Exhibit K3.5, and we will deliver it to the panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.5:  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ST. CLAIR PIPELINES LP. 

MR. SHORTS:  We have that.

MR. CAMERON:  And we won't get into the -- we might never get into the statements themselves, but the thing I wanted to clarify at the beginning was that, to your knowledge, St. Clair Pipelines LP is the current manifestation of what I'll call the original St. Clair, St. Clair Pipelines 1986 Ltd. or whatever it was called before that.  Can you confirm that, Mr. Shorts?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the legal history of that, and I couldn't tell you whether this is the exact entity.  I don't know the legal history on that corporate governance or corporate structure.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, let me ask you to just turn over to page 3 of 12, because this might be the easiest way.

There are torturous ways we can get to that conclusion, but you will see that the earnings of St. Clair Pipelines LP are described under "Revenue" as "River Crossing Pipeline and Bluewater Pipeline."

And since those are the two, originally, St. Clair Pipelines Limited facilities, perhaps we can just agree, subject to check, that there's been some corporate restructuring, probably for tax reasons, and it is now a limited partnership that is holding these two assets that were originally held by the old St. Clair Pipelines?


MR. SHORTS:  Subject to check, those are the two components.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  And again, this might be going back before even your and my time, Mr. Shorts, but St. Clair today -- and always has been an affiliate of Union Gas.  That is, they have always been owned from the old Unicorp days by a common parent?

MR. SHORTS:  My recollection is they have always been part of the corporate family.  I don't know whether they have been at Union Gas or under what structure, but...

MR. CAMERON:  Fair enough.

And today you, Union and St. Clair -- we'll just call it that from now on -- Union and St. Clair are both owned by Westcoast, carrying on business as Spectra; correct? 

MR. SHORTS:  We're all part of that, in that umbrella, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And St. Clair owns an NEB-regulated 24-inch line that crosses the St. Clair River and connects the MichCon and Union systems; correct? 

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the size of the pipeline, but I will take your word for it, that that's the correct size of the pipeline that runs through the river.

MR. CAMERON:  I don't think anything turns on the size.  I will just ask you to take that, subject to check.

MR. SHORTS:  Sure.

MR. CAMERON:  And another thing St. Clair does is it currently leases what Union calls the Bluewater Pipeline, which is another St. Clair River crossing; correct? 

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, currently they do.  That's my understanding.

MR. CAMERON:  And the plan is, because the owner of that pipeline has given notice of termination of the lease, the plan is for St. Clair to build its own river crossing line; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And I think this is in the materials, but just to save us from going there, the existing line that is leased is a 12-inch line and the replacement line - which is going to go in service, I believe, next spring - is going to be a 20-inch line; is that your understanding? 

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure.  I haven't been following that that close, to see whether or not -- the size of the pipes, but I do know there is a pipe that's going to be proposed to be built. 

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And Union is the only shipper on both of these lines; correct? 

MR. SHORTS:  I know of what contract capacity we contract for.  I'm not aware if there are other shippers. 

MR. CAMERON:  Well, we can -- again, we can solve that, I suppose, by looking at page 3, again, of the financial statements, Exhibit K3.5.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is page 11 perhaps not more narrative, Mr. Cameron?  The second full paragraph under numbered paragraph 5?

MR. CAMERON:  I've got that paragraph highlighted, sir, so you are probably right.  It has some information I'm going to come to in a minute.

But it's a little more exactly demonstrated by the fact that the figures, Mr. Shorts, on page 3, first for the river crossing pipeline of $342,000 and then for the Bluewater Pipeline of $629,625 are exactly the figures that Union has in its filed materials as what it pays to these two pipelines. 

MR. SHORTS:  That is correct.  And the reason I asked the question is I don't know if there is interruptible contracts that people have that have -- they have not actually flowed on, on those.  I just don't know those kind of details.

But from what we have contracted for, it would certainly look like all that capacity has certainly been contracted for and paid for by Union. 

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And it is also true Union operates and maintains both of those lines? 

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I'm not the person who's responsible for that, so I don't know what kind of arrangement, or if they have contracted that out to another party.  I couldn't tell you.

MR. CAMERON:  I'll take Mr. Sommerville's hint here and direct you to page 11 of 12, and the second full paragraph. 

Here, the only mention of transportation services provided by St. Clair is to Union Gas, and then in the second part of the paragraph it is noted that:

"In addition, the partnership purchases administrative services from Union Gas and Westcoast in the normal course of business."

And it goes on to say that 280-odd-thousand of that was from Union and 9,000 or so from Westcoast.

So is it fair to us -- for us to infer from that that I'm correct when I say that Union operates these pipelines on behalf of St. Clair?

MR. SHORTS:  At least to the extent that those dollars are covered, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Could we go to Exhibit A1, tab 9, page 2 of 2?  If you look, Mr. Shorts, under upstream transportation, you will see the numbers we had before matching up with the numbers we saw in St. Clair's financial statements.

And then under note 3 to that table, I will just let you read that.  Could you undertake to provide copies of these transportation agreements?

MR. SMITH:  Just a moment.

I guess I'd ask my friend to expand on the relevance of the request so that I can consider it.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, I suppose it would be like asking for any other of your upstream transportation agreements, although there's a special interest here, because these are contracts with an affiliate and they're reported in your affiliate transaction section of your application.  And I am going to ask in a few minutes how the terms of those agreements were reached and why you are paying the tolls you are paying.

So I would like copies of the agreements.  I think that is pretty relevant.

MR. SMITH:  We'll do that.

MS. HELT:  So undertaking J3.8 will be to provide the agreements referenced under note 3 of Exhibit A1, tab 9, page 2 of 2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO PROVIDE THE AGREEMENTS REFERENCED UNDER NOTE 3 OF EXHIBIT A1, TAB 9, PAGE 2 OF 2.

MR. CAMERON:  And I hope this isn't too trite, but just to be clear, the payments from Union to St. Clair are recovered by Union in tolls paid by Union's customers; correct?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes.

MR. CAMERON:  Let me make this observation, and I am just asking for your view as a -- Mr. Shorts, as a long-time employee involved in this area for Union Gas, that, in effect, the St. Clair River crossing line and the existing and proposed Bluewater lines are effectively parts of the Union system, but that are held -- I don't say this is at all improper.

There are good regulatory jurisdictional reasons for this.  They are held by an affiliate that is regulated by the National Energy Board, but only for that purpose; that is, only for the jurisdictional purpose.  They are de facto sections of the Union system; is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  I am not sure that, over the years, that there haven't been other customers previous to this.

I would suspect not, but those entities have been providing services that we have contracted for probably since the inception.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  In other words, you're the only customer.  Your tolls pay their full cost of service.  It is just like another part of your system, except that for good jurisdictional reasons they're held by another company.  Is that fair?

MR. SHORTS:  That could very well be.

MR. CAMERON:  You don't find the description improbable or inaccurate?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't know the operations of St. Clair and Bluewater well enough to be able to properly comment, but...

MR. CAMERON:  It's not -- we've just gone through the relevant operations of Bluewater and Union that make that conclusion, I think, obvious.  You're their sole customer.  You pay their whole cost of service.  You operate the pipeline.

It's effectively part of your system, except that it is held by an affiliate for jurisdictional reasons, or perhaps we would just say it is effectively part of your system, but you don't know why it is held by another company.  And I would understand that answer if you don't get the jurisdictional side of it?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I continue to mention that St. Clair and Bluewater are separate companies, and if there was a time in which they decided they did not want to contract with Union, and vice versa, Union did not want to contract with them, there would be that -- that could happen.

So I wouldn't necessarily say that because they have that ability, that they would be a de facto portion of the Union system.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  I think that is a fair qualification, but unless and until that happens, they are a de facto part of the Union system?

MR. SHORTS:  The fact that we have contracted for all of the capacity across those systems, and have been, to provide access to it and to provide security, as well as diversity, we have been utilizing those, and, therefore, we have essentially incorporated them into our plan as if they were part of our system.

MR. CAMERON:  That's exactly where I was going.  Thank you.

Now another piece that I handed out to your counsel, it has on its letterhead "Westcoast Energy" and a date of August 8th, 1997.  It is a series of tariff filings with the National Energy Board that I would ask be made the next exhibit, please.

MS. HELT:  Yes.  We can mark that as Exhibit K3.9.  Sorry, that is K3.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.6:  SERIES OF tariff FILINGS WITH NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD UNDER COVER OF WESTCOAST ENERGY LETTERHEAD, DATED AUGUST 8, 1997.

MR. CAMERON:  I hope this doesn't cause any confusion, Madam Chair.  These were arranged in chronological order, so you one St. Clair tariff, one Bluewater tariff, and then another St. Clair tariff -- reverse chronological order, I should say.

What I would like you to do, panel, please, is turn three pages in and turn the page over so you are on the back of the third page.

And I suppose I shouldn't have taken you immediately there, but what we're looking at is a document entitled: 
"St. Clair Pipelines Limited Bluewater Pipeline Transportation Tariff".

And we can see from the covering letter that it's been sent to the National Energy Board by St. Clair.  And can you confirm, Mr. Shorts -- and feel free to flip through it.  I don't know how long you've had it since I gave it to your counsel -- but this is the original and still operative tariff for the Bluewater Pipeline?

MS. HODGSON:  Subject to check, it appears to be.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay, thank you.  And on the last page that I took you to, under "Request for transportation service" the reader is directed to St. Clair Pipelines Ltd. care of Union Gas Limited, 50 Keele Drive," et cetera, "Attention:  Manager, storage and transportation services."

So coming back to our point about Union operating this pipeline, that's true both physically and commercially, in the sense that if someone wants capacity on this pipeline, they go to your -- that is to Union's -- manager of storage and transportation services; correct? 

MS. HODGSON:  I'm not certain, but I believe that's managed storage and transportation services for St. Clair Pipelines Limited. 

MR. CAMERON:  I wish I had checked the phone number.  Does St. Clair Pipelines have a manager of storage and transportation services? 

MS. HODGSON:  I don't know that.

MR. CAMERON:  What would that person do? 

MS. HODGSON:  Presumably manage storage and transportation services.  I don't know.  I'm not familiar with the organizational structure of St. Clair LP.

MR. CAMERON:  But it says "care of Union Gas Limited"?

MS. HODGSON:  I believe that's the address, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  To your knowledge, there is no such person as a manager, storage and transportation services of St. Clair Pipelines?

MS. HODGSON:  I'm not familiar with it. 

MR. SHORTS:  There is someone at Union Gas that would hold this responsibility.  We just don't know if that title is still relevant, or who that person exactly would be in today's world.

Like, in other words, if you called to get a St. Clair service, I don't know exactly who it would be that you would get when you called.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Could you turn up, then, Exhibit J.C-4-7-3?

And the first question is:

"Please provide the current design day and peak day capacity of the Bluewater River crossing."

And the response to that is this:  
"The Bluewater River crossing is an NEB-regulated facility which Union does not own and is not relevant to this proceeding.  Union is unable to provide the information requested."

Now, are any of you on this panel responsible for that answer? 

MR. SHORTS:  No. 

MR. CAMERON:  Can any of you explain how it is that the company that operates the system and has been the sole shipper on the system throughout its life is unable to answer that question, doesn't have the information requested, as you put it? 

MR. SHORTS:  We did not prepare this interrogatory response.  So it may be a question for another panel. 

MR. CAMERON:  Well, this panel knows that the answer is wrong, doesn't it? 

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure which -- I'm not sure -- as I said, we weren't the ones that prepared that, so I...

I mean, when I read it, it looks as though it contradicts what you had said before, but I can't say for sure that that's the same meaning or the same intent. 

MR. CAMERON:  If the answers you gave to me before were correct, the last sentence of that answer is wrong, right? 

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, do you know which panel did prepare this response? 

MR. SMITH:  Panel 3 will be able to answer the question. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It may be more appropriate to put the question to the author of the answer, rather than try to try to wheedle something out of this panel.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood will be able to answer it, and there were similar questions in relation to pipe size and what have you, and either he will be able to answer it or the Parkway West people who have physical facilities responsibilities will be able to answer those too.

MR. CAMERON:  That's fair enough.

And Mr. Sommerville, I wasn't trying to wheedle an answer out of the question; I was trying to get the panel, which included this pipeline in its evidence as one of its gas supply sources, to tell me why they wouldn't answer such a simple question, and that is what the capacity of the river crossing was.

But I can move on from there.

Now, we asked a similar question about the expansion, the new pipeline, the pipeline that will replace the leased pipeline, in request "I" as in India. 

We asked, in effect, the equivalent question of the replacement pipeline.  And the answer was, and I will paraphrase:  Go to the NEB website and get the information there.

MS. HODGSON:  Sorry, we don't have the question in front of us, nor the answer, so we're just looking --


MR. CAMERON:  It's the same –-

MS. HODGSON:  We don't have it in front of us.  We're trying to get it.  We have just been using the screen.

MR. CAMERON:  Oh, okay.  I? 

MR. SMITH:  There we go. 

MR. CAMERON:  That's going to go to answer I.  Question I is just -- I will read it for you, so you don't have to flip around:

"Please provide the design day and peak day capacity of the Bluewater River crossing after the new NPS 20 river crossing pipe is in place and in service."

And again, the question wasn't answered, but instead we were referred to the NEB website.

MR. SMITH:  In what respect does my friend say the answer wasn't given, if the information is at the site? 

MR. CAMERON:  Well, I am going to ask about that. 

MR. SMITH:  All right. 

MR. CAMERON:  When you go to this site, you see that the contact person for the application is Ms. Patricia Planting, the manager of upstream transportation for Union Gas. 

And we didn't find an answer to the question there.  All we found was that the questions should be directed to you.  Not you, you; you, Patricia Planting.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is an important distinction.

[Laughter]


MR. SHORTS:  Ms. Planting would be happy to hear that. 

MR. CAMERON:  So I guess I can -- you're going to tell me you didn't author this response, so I won't ask you why instead of walking down the hall to Ms. Planting and getting the answer and putting it in the response, why instead of doing that you referred us to a website.

But also I am going to ask you:  Would you please answer the question?

And it might be on the website.  We haven't been able to find it there. 

MR. SHORTS:  I have not been on the website either, so I couldn't tell you if the answer is there or not.

MR. CAMERON:  But could you answer the question? 

MR. SMITH:  We will answer the question.  We know that this panel didn't prepare it.  We also know that TCPL brought a motion in respect of questions that they felt were not suitably answered.

These questions either could have been asked -- anyway, they were not part of the motion. 

MR. CAMERON:  Well, yes.  In response to Mr. Smith's criticism of my leaving it to now to pursue these, it took us some time to piece together why it was that answer (a) was -- the answer that said we don't know was wrong.

And it also took us some time to figure out that we couldn't get the answer at the reference to which we referred -- we were referred. 

So it is, I think -- if somebody is going to decline to answer information requests on good grounds, what appear to be good grounds, and it takes counsel a while to figure out why those aren't good grounds, I think it is a fair area of cross-examination. 

MR. SMITH:  As I indicated, we will provide the answer.

MS. HARE:  You will provide it in an undertaking?  Or wait until panel 3?

MR. SMITH:  We will provide it by way of undertaking.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking J3.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.9:  TO PROVIDE DESIGN DAY AND PEAK DAY CAPACITY OF BLUEWATER RIVER CROSSING AFTER NEW NPS 20 RIVER CROSSING PIPE IS IN PLACE AND IN SERVICE.

MS. HARE:  Is this a good place for us to take a 10-minute break? 

MR. CAMERON:  Absolutely, yes.

MS. HARE:  So we will return, actually, at quarter to four.

--- Recess taken at 3:34 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 3:53 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

So, Mr. Cameron, are you ready to resume?

MR. CAMERON:  Yes, thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CAMERON:  Ladies and gentlemen, my colleague queried whether I had got confirmation from you that the existing 12-inch Bluewater line is being replaced be a 20-inch line.  Did I get that confirmation from you or did you not know?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the specifics of the replacement off the top of my head.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Well, look at the exhibit we've been in, J.C-4-7-3.  It turns out I didn't need to ask the question, because at answer h) there, you confirm.  We ask if you are replacing a 12-inch line with 20-inch line, and you confirm that's what you're doing or that St. Clair is doing.

And we see that from question d) of this interrogatory, we asked you the current design day and peak day capacity of the Bluewater to Dawn path as opposed to just the pipeline itself, and you answered that question with 213,875 gJs a day for the existing 12-inch pipeline.

And we asked you the same question at m), question m), as in Mary, for the capacity of the Bluewater to Dawn path after the pipe is upsized, and the answer to m) is, "See response to d)."

So the conclusion I draw from that is the upsizing the river crossing doesn't change the capacity of the path to Dawn.  Is that the conclusion you would draw, as well?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't have it in front of me.  I'm just waiting to see what the answer to d) was.  Sorry.  If that's the -- if that's the answer, I would assume that that's the situation.  Again, I'm not the author.

MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And would it be fair to conclude that that's because upsizing the pipe doesn't change the fact that it feeds into the 12-inch Sarnia industrial line, and so the capacity to the path is going to be the same, whatever the size of the river crossing?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't know the physical specifics.

MR. CAMERON:  Does that sound logical to you, though?

MR. SHORTS:  That's logical, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And we don't need to go there unless you aren't familiar with the number, but in an attachment to one of our interrogatories, there's a presentation that stipulates the capital cost of that upsizing as $4.9 million, and that's the same information I saw in the NEB website.

Does that sound like the right number to you?

MR. SHORTS:  I'll take that subject to check.  I don't know.

MR. CAMERON:  How is the rate that Union is paying on the leased Bluewater line, L-E-A-S-E-D Bluewater line, calculated, the rate that you pay to St. Clair?

MS. HODGSON:  If you go to tab -- Exhibit D3, tab 2, schedule 5, that gives the quantity and the rate that Union Gas pays for that leased line.  That's the contractual quantity and the rate that we pay.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  But how was the rate built up?  How was it decided what Union would pay to St. Clair for that transportation?

MR. SHORTS:  I don't know the rate specifics of how they came up with that rate.  That certainly predates my experience with that.

MR. CAMERON:  Whose job is it to keep an eye on how much you pay for your upstream transportation?  Is that you guys?  Is that gas supply?

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, yes.

MR. CAMERON:  And you don't know how -- you don't know the basis of the rate you pay on the Bluewater line?

MR. SHORTS:  As a shipper, I don't know the basis of how TransCanada calculates their rates in some situations.  I don't know how the specifics are related to some of the other contracted paths that we contract on.

MR. CAMERON:  Well, you might not, Mr. Shorts, but there are sure people in your company who make it their business to know how we calculate our rates.

I'm wondering, is this what St. Clair pays for the lease, plus 500 percent?  Is that the rate that you pay?

MR. SHORTS:  We pay an agreed-upon rate to move gas across that interconnect.

How that rate was calculated, I don't know how they originally did that.

MR. CAMERON:  And so it could be cost plus 500 percent to your affiliate?  You just don't know?

MR. SHORTS:  Like I said, as Ms. Hodgson said, the rates on D3, tab 2, schedule 5, if we're talking about the Bluewater one, the 1.4 cents Canadian per gJ, I don't know how that 1.4 cents was calculated.

MR. CAMERON:  Is the same true about the St. Clair line, the rate that Union pays to St. Clair on the St. Clair River crossing?

MR. SHORTS:  I could not tell you how the 0.004 rate was calculated or what that represents from a St. Clair perspective.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, is that again a question panel 3 could answer?

MR. SMITH:  I...  Well, yes.  We'll be in a position to answer that with panel 3.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CAMERON:  I appreciate that.  I will perhaps leave it to argument to address the fact that the people who are responsible for this don't know the answer, but I have a few more questions along this line.

MS. HARE:  No, that's fine.

MR. CAMERON:  We see in the same interrogatory response for l), as in Lima, the annual costs that you are paying on the Bluewater line, and have paid for the last five years, of $629,000, and then you forecast an increase to $650,000.

Is it fair for me to assume that that reflects the fact that St. Clair is going to be spending $4.9 million on the new river crossing?  The rates have been flat for five years and they're going up somewhat in the next year, in the year that the new line comes into service?

MR. SHORTS:  Again, I don't know exactly how they calculated that.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  And do I take it that you don't know how they derived the toll that you will be paying on the line?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SHORTS:  I'm not sure exactly how they came up with that incremental $21,000 on that $650,000 a year estimate.

MR. CAMERON:  Right.  I take it your answer for this would be the same as before.  You don't know how it is that not just the delta arose, but how it is the toll you'll be paying was calculated.  What basis was it calculated on?  What is -- is it a cost-based rate?  If it is a cost-based rate, what return on equity is St. Clair earning for that?  Et cetera.


It might be --


MR. SHORTS:  No.  I don't know those answers.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  Okay.  We looked at the tariff documents, Exhibit K3.9, and --


MS. HELT:  That's K3.6.  I'm sorry I incorrectly referenced it initially, but it is K3.6.


MR. CAMERON:  Thank you.  K3.6.


And you can flip through the pages if you want, but can you take it, subject to check, that St. Clair hasn't filed a new tariff in 15 years and Bluewater hasn't filed a new tariff in 12 years?  Since inception, that is, 12 years?


MS. HODGSON:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. CAMERON:  Okay.  And these pipelines, St. Clair and Bluewater, the National Energy Board doesn't review their tolls for reasonableness, does it?


MS. HODGSON:  I -- I'm not an expert in the area of what the NEB does or doesn't do.


MR. CAMERON:  Well, you're familiar that Group 2 pipelines at the National Energy Board are regulated on a complaint basis?  That is, unless a shipper complains, the rate is whatever they have negotiated between themselves?


MS. HODGSON:  I understand that to be the case.


MR. CAMERON:  Right.  And these two pipelines are Group 2 pipelines, right?  The St. Clair River crossing and the Bluewater line?


MS. HODGSON:  I believe it says that in the document that you're referencing.


MR. CAMERON:  Right.  And so Union has neither negotiated nor complained about these rates in the last 15 years with respect to St. Clair, and since inception with respect to Bluewater; correct?


MR. SHORTS:  That's correct.


MR. CAMERON:  And do you know why you're paying the same rate, despite the fact, for example, that the St. Clair line will have depreciated over the 15 years since it last filed a tariff?


MR. SHORTS:  When we look at our principles and we look at the value that this brings from security and diversity, we felt those rates were rates that were prudently incurred, and that's why we contracted for those rates.


MR. CAMERON:  Yes, that's why you contracted for them 15 years ago.  And I take it you haven't looked at them again since?


MS. HODGSON:  I wouldn't say that we haven't looked at them again since.


Our need for those pipelines has stayed the same and the value that they provide to our portfolio has stayed the same.


MR. CAMERON:  And would you object if TransCanada charged rates on that basis?


MS. HODGSON:  This is --


I mean, this isn't -- excuse me for interrupting.


This is an affiliate pipeline.  You, the people responsible for getting transportation on them, have no idea how their rates are made up and haven't inquired into the reasonableness of those rates in the last 15 years.


Can you see why that would be an item of concern to your shippers?


MR. SMITH:  Well, with great respect to my friend, he is now put for at least a solid half an hour a document that the witnesses did not author.


He knows that these people can't answer the question that he has asked.  He continues to ask them.


We have indicated that we will have Mr. Isherwood available.  If he wants to put all of these questions again to Mr. Isherwood, he can do so.


But I don't so the purpose of this at this point.


MS. HARE:  Well, I think there is no purpose if they can't answer the questions, but the Board is very interested in the questions that you are asking, Mr. Cameron.  So we will look forward to panel 3 being able to provide some more insight.


MR. SMITH:  Certainly.


MS. TAYLOR:  Sorry, one point of clarification.  This is the panel that deals with gas supply for in-franchise.


Mr. Isherwood is on the ex-franchise panel.  Should he not have been before us for in-franchise?  I am assuming these costs go to in-franchise customers; is that correct?


MR. SMITH:  They do.  Mr. Isherwood has had a number of jobs over his years, over his time with Union Gas, and I expect he will be in a position to answer it.


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MR. CAMERON:  I think I know the answer to this question.


Have any of you folks looked at the financial statements of St. Clair before they were presented to you in this hearing?


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Cameron, I missed that question.  Can you please repeat it?


MR. CAMERON:  Has anyone on the panel looked at the financial statements of St. Clair before the witnesses' appearance on this panel?


MR. SHORTS:  I certainly haven't looked at the financial statements prior to this.  I haven't looked at TransCanada's financial statements, Alliance's financial statements, any of the other pipelines that we contract service on.


MR. CAMERON:  Again, Mr. Shorts, confirm for me that there is an entire department within Union who has a job of monitoring TransCanada's rates and their reasonableness.  Isn't there?


MR. SHORTS:  We have an NEB group that looks at TransCanada and all of the NEB-regulated pipes.


MR. CAMERON:  Right.


Madam Chair, in light of the difficulty I've had getting answers to these questions, I think I will just stop it there and pursue the matter with the appropriate panel.  Thank you very much.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  In light of the time, Mr. Thompson, I think it is probably better if we just start with your cross-examination Monday, if you are okay with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Fine.


MS. HARE:  And then, Mr. Smith, you had indicated you would have a revised schedule.


MR. SMITH:  Oh, yes.


MS. HARE:  I am not asking you to do it right now.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Sorry.


MS. HARE:  I was hoping you would do it on Monday.


For Monday, we will complete the gas supply panel.  We will then move to cost of capital.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  And then you can work out the rest.


What I did want to alert you to is that the Panel is available -- since we have slipped already in the schedule -- we are available also on July 26th and 27th.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  And if it moves quicker, then that's fine.  But I think maybe all parties should count on those dates at this point.


MR. SMITH:  I think so.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Is there anything else, in terms of any preliminary matters?  Anything?


Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  Just the argument schedule is of particular interest to me.  I think the revised schedule moves the proposed date for intervenors and Board Staff; is that correct?


MR. SMITH:  Well, I think what we will do is reflect on, in the schedule, where we are relative to where we thought we had been.  And if the dates get moved, as I suspect they will, by a couple of days, we will just adjust them accordingly, if that's fine.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Have a good weekend, everybody.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:12 p.m.                    
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